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UniSIM is the first university in Singapore dedicated to 
working adults, allowing them to pursue lifelong learning 
and higher education while balancing career, family and 
social responsibilities. About 10,700 students and 13,600 
alumni have chosen UniSIM for its high academic standards, 
programme quality and diversity, industry-relevant focus, 
flexible learning environment and valuable partnerships.

Established in 2005, UniSIM is uniquely positioned to cater 
to the diverse academic qualifications and work experiences 
of its students and to develop a high-quality workforce in 
Singapore. Today, UniSIM offers 47 academic programmes 
through its four schools - School of Arts and Social Sciences, 
School of Business, School of Human Development and 
Social Services, and School of Science and Technology.

Our 
Vision

Serving society through excellence in flexible learning  
for adults

Our 
Mission

To provide opportunities for professionals and adult learners 
to upgrade their qualifications, knowledge and skills through 
a wide range of relevant programmes

Our 
Core 
Values

Spirit of learning
Passion for excellence
Integrity
Respect and trust for the individual
Innovation
Teamwork

Corporate 
Profile

key facts and figures

47
> Academic 

programmes

10,629
> Student 

enrolment

1,494
> Graduates

13,593
> Alumni

30
> Average age 

of students

65
> Full-time 

faculty

financial highlights
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192
> Non-academic 

staff

671
> Associate 

faculty

 2009* 2010*
 ($’000) ($’000)

Course Fees and Other Income 58,613 70,886

Operating Expenses 44,646 51,485

Capability-building Expenditure 9,011 9,972

Net Surplus (Deficit) 4,956 9,429

Donations from SIM Group 18,020 16,120

Reserve Level 0.91 years 1.02 years

*  Year ended 31 December

* Excludes Diploma, BNU  
 and NJU programmes

* Excludes Diploma and BNU graduates

* Excludes Diploma, OUUK, BNU and  
 NJU students
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To build a privately-
funded university 
with a new ethos, new 
processes, new rules 
and new programmes 
from scratch, and to 
do it within the reach 
of limited resources 
and yet remain 
anchored on quality 
and standards, was a 
good lesson learnt  
in management  
with foresight,  
focus, creativity  
and resilience.

Message:

Chancellor 
& Chairman
gearing up for 
the future

In the five short years since its founding in 2005, SIM University (UniSIM) 
has grown tremendously in its scope of programmes and student 
enrolment, as well as in its standing as the university for working 
adults. Our student enrolment is nearly 10,700 and we now offer 47 
programmes ranging from business and aerospace engineering to 
counselling and languages. 

While we enjoy our present success, we stay sharply focused on gearing 
up for the future. A future in which we will continue to invest in our 
infrastructure, expand our programmes and research capabilities as 
well as grow our faculty and staff – all with the single-minded purpose of 
making a significant difference in the future of those who walk through 
our doors. In short, a future in which we are confident of our place and 
the important role we play in developing Singapore’s talents. 

LOOkIng BACk TO ReACh FORWARd
We look back on 2010 with satisfaction 
and pride as the year UniSIM came into its 
own. As we celebrate our first five years of 
achievements, we also look at how we can 
seize the future here and now by mapping our 
strategic directions for the coming years.  

We step into the new decade with a road map 
for growth that will see us reinforce our current 
foundations and entrench our standing as a 
university for industry and working adults.  
For this, we draw on the lessons we have 
learnt from our past.  

Although we had the foundation of the Open 
University to build on when we started, we 
faced many challenges in the early years. 
The ability to surmount these challenges has 
become a strength that, I believe, we can build 
on to take us to greater heights ahead. 

To build a privately-funded university with a 
new ethos, new processes, new rules and 
new programmes from scratch, and to do it 
within the reach of limited resources and yet 
remain anchored on quality and standards, 
was a good lesson learnt in management with 
foresight, focus, creativity and resilience. 

We were fortunate to have an experienced and 
dedicated management team and staff who 
worked tirelessly as one towards our vision. 
Our simple and flat structure enabled us to 
respond nimbly to changes in the business and 
educational environment. Our business model 
of relying largely on part-time faculty instead 
of a huge pool of full-time faculty has added 
advantages as well. More than just keeping our 
overheads down, these associate faculty, drawn 
from both academia and industry, brought to the  
classroom up-to-date and real-life experiences,  
a quality invaluable to working adults. 
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professor cham tao soon
Chancellor and Chairman
SIM University

To cater to the different learning modes of 
working adults as well as to the convenience 
of their learning in a busy schedule, we continued 
to ensure that flexibility was a key aspect of 
our programme mix. Flexibility that allows 
students to mix and match courses to 
broaden their knowledge and skills beyond 
their core areas of expertise. Flexibility also  
to allow them to learn anytime, anywhere  
and at their own pace.

The most satisfying proof that we are on the  
right track in our mission is the Government’s 
recognition and endorsement of our programmes.  
In 2008, the Ministry of Education announced  
a subsidy for eligible UniSIM students of up  
to 40%, a boon to working adults aiming to  
further their education. At the beginning of 2011,  
in a move to encourage more professionals, 
managers, executives and technicians to 
continually upgrade themselves, this subsidy 
was increased to 55%.

Significantly, the funding meant that we  
had earned the trust of the government as a 
private university that is able to provide quality 
programmes that meet stringent educational 
standards and are relevant to Singapore’s 
economy and society.

geARIng UP FOR The FUTURe
Today, the hallmarks of a UniSIM education 

that set us apart as a choice university for  
working adults are the quality of our programmes 
in terms of standards and industry-relevance, 
delivered in a flexible way that empowers 
our students to continue contributing to their 
organisations, families and society even as 
they upgrade their knowledge and skills.

As we forge ahead to further build on our 
capabilities and reputation, we will stay 
anchored on this vision. 

We have invested heavily in our capacity to 
widen our programme offerings and expand 
our enrolment through the building of bigger 
and better facilities as well as the development 
of our staff. Beyond just growing in numbers is 
the challenge of continuing to be a university 
that is relevant to the real world. 

MAkIng edUCATIOn MORe 
ACCeSSIBLe
We have and will continue to make higher 
education and lifelong learning more 
accessible to working adults. We will further 
develop and refine our online learning system 
started in 2007 to deliver learning at anytime, 
anywhere and at any pace. We must harness 
technology more fully to offer a student-centric 
mode of learning that effectively complements 
conventional classroom learning. E-learning is 
the key to the future of learning. In our case, it 

is particularly suited to busy executives who 
not only want flexibility to learn on the move 
but independent, self-paced learning through 
interaction and reflection. In e-learning, the 
emphasis is on learning rather than teaching, 
and the outcome is collaborative learning and 
garnering of knowledge that goes beyond 
classroom teaching. Such a mode of learning 
is also scalable and can be extended to our 
students anywhere in the world.

ReLeASIng InTeRnAL SyneRgy   
The challenge of competing for quality staff 
and faculty will continue. Another internal 
challenge is to ensure that UniSIM, as part 
of the SIM Group, is able to effectively share 
and optimise the limited facilities with the 
other business units of the organisation.  
Our ability to collaborate within the 
organisation will render a great deal of 
synergy that can propel us forward, both 
individually and as a group.

To succeed, we cannot stand still but must 
stay ahead of the curve. At five years old, we 
have done more than just learn to walk. We 
are ready to run. I am confident that with a 
clear vision, the commitment and verve we 
have, the continued guidance of our Board 
and management, and the dedication of all 
our staff, we have a good chance of success 
in the decade ahead.

The hallmarks of a UniSIM education that set us apart as a choice university for working adults 
are the quality of our programmes in terms of standards and industry-relevance, delivered in a 
flexible way that empowers our students to continue contributing to their organisations, families 
and society even as they upgrade their knowledge and skills.
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We are a university 
dedicated to 
working adults, 
sought not just for 
the opportunities 
we offer in 
higher education 
and continual 
learning, but also 
for the flexible, 
real-life training 
that delivers the 
“learn today, apply 
tomorrow” promise.

As SIM University (UniSIM) celebrates its 5th anniversary, we look back on 
how a simple idea of encouraging lifelong learning among working adults 
has germinated into a university with a unique mission and has made an 
imprint on the private education landscape of Singapore.

Today, we are a university dedicated to working 
adults, sought not just for the opportunities  
we offer in higher education and continual 
learning, but also for the flexible, real-life 
training that delivers the “learn today, apply 
tomorrow” promise.

Five years is a short time in the history of a 
university but they are significant pioneering 
years that laid a firm foundation for the university 
to take off to greater heights. They have been 
exciting years and my colleagues and I have 
been privileged to be a part of this remarkable 
journey of growth.

If numbers are any indication of how far we 
have come, at the end of this calendar year, our 
enrolment stands at 10,629, with some 13,600 
students having graduated from UniSIM. Our 
faculty numbers 65 full-time and 671 associate 
teaching staff, supported by a staff complement 
of 192. More significant than depicting growth, 
these numbers speak of the people from a 
wide range of backgrounds in terms of age, 
experience and expertise, whose lives have 
been touched and changed by an experience 
at UniSIM, whether it was in the achievement 
of career goals or in the fulfilment of personal 
aspirations for greater knowledge. 

Each one of the past five years has been filled 
with many notable achievements. The year 

2010 was no exception. We commenced six 
new programmes, viz., Bachelor degrees in 
Accountancy, Early Childhood Education, 
Facilities and Events Management, and 
Human Factors in Safety, as well as Master 
degrees in Counselling and Urban Transport 
Management. Groundwork has also been laid 
to start yet another pioneering programme 
for Singapore: a Master in Gerontology to 
train a pool of professionals who can lead the 
eldercare industry in a fast ageing society. 
We also graduated our largest cohort of 
students thus far: some 1,500, among whom 
are the first graduating class with Bachelor 
degrees in Translation and Interpretation, 
Chinese Language and Literature, Sociology, 
Counselling, Social Work, Business Analytics, 
and General Studies, as well as the Master of 
Environmental Science, Master of Social Work 
and Master of Taxation, many of which are the 
first programmes of their kind to be offered  
in Singapore. 

As a university for industry, our Centre for 
Applied Research worked on some 20 partner-
supported research projects. We continued to 
engage the industry by conducting the quarterly 
Business Times-UniSIM Business Climate 
Survey and the Land Transport Authority’s 
Public Transport Customer Satisfaction Survey. 
The People’s Association also commissioned 
UniSIM to carry out a survey on its programmes.

Message:

President
realising 
dreams now
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professor cheong hee kiat
President 
SIM University

We consolidated our efforts to support and 
develop our pool of teaching staff with the 
setting up of the Teaching and Learning Centre 
(TLC) as part of the Learning Services Cluster 
under the leadership of a Vice-President. 
Besides promoting teaching excellence 
through innovating pedagogies and learning 
technologies, the TLC aims to build up a 
teaching resource centre and foster a strong 
academic community for the sharing of ideas 
and experiences within UniSIM.  

We had, in 2009, embarked on a five-year, 
$300m Campus Development Master Plan 
to more than double our existing campus at 
Clementi as we anticipate that by the year 
2020, our student population will have grown to 
14,000. Phase 1 of the building is nearly ready 
and come next year, our students can look 
forward to making use of the new infrastructure 
and facilities equipped to enhance their 
learning journey. We also rolled out the Student 
Information Management System in July to 
better support our administration operations and 
improve our services.

During the year, the Private Education Act, 
introduced by the Ministry of Education (MOE) to 
raise standards in the private education industry, 
kicked in. Under this Act, UniSIM is registered 
with the Council for Private Education under its 
Enhanced Registration Framework. Additionally, 
like the public tertiary institutions, UniSIM will 

be assessed under the Quality Assurance 
Framework for Universities put in place by MOE. 

As a privately-funded university, a signal 
evidence of our role and relevance to the 
economy and society is the Singapore 
Government’s endorsement of what we do. 
The fact that the Government has increased 
its subsidy of our Singaporean student fees 
by another 15 percentage points to 55% is an 
assurance that UniSIM plays an important role 
in the manpower development of Singapore 
and that the quality of our programmes meet 
the stringent standards that Singapore is known 
for. This support and recognition is a strong 
encouragement for us to do more and to  
do better.

First and foremost, we place a high premium 
on the success of our graduates. Their success 
underpins everything we do. Our continual focus 
on the quality of our programmes, through the 
rigour of curriculum, effectiveness of pedagogy 
and through the relevance of the knowledge and 
skills imparted, will be of utmost importance.  
A systematic quality assurance and audit 
process, both internal and external, is in place 
for this purpose.  

Second, we will continue to increase the 
accessibility of our programmes to working 
professionals who learn differently and  
who need flexible modes of learning that 

enhance work-life balance. In this area, we will 
leverage technology to deliver more courses 
through e-learning. 

Third, another area of industry collaboration 
I am excited about is the more proactive role 
UniSIM can play in the continuing education 
and training of professionals, managers, 
executives and technicians, a pillar identified 
as critical in supporting Singapore’s next 
phase of development. The scalable nature 
of our courses is an advantage in working  
with organisations, especially the small 
and medium-sized enterprises, to develop 
customised in-house training that can lead to 
different levels of certification for employees.

It has been an exhilarating first five years, and 
while in reflective mood, we are all geared up 
to trek steadily and purposefully forward. As 
we can see from recent world events, the years 
ahead hold many challenges; today, in this 
global environment, they will impact us one way 
or other.  Whether we see these challenges as 
obstacles or opportunities, we will need the 
same focus, determination and passion to take 
us forward.

I count on the support of all the stakeholders 
of UniSIM – our alumni, students, faculty, 
board members and staff, and the society our 
graduates serve – to take UniSIM to another 
level of achievement in the next five years.

The fact that the Government has increased its subsidy of our Singaporean student fees by 
another 15 percentage points to 55% is an assurance that UniSIM plays an important role in the 
manpower development of Singapore and that the quality of our programmes meet the stringent 
standards that Singapore is known for.  
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Board of 
Trustees

The UniSIM Board of Trustees oversees the 
corporate governance, policies and strategies of the 
University, including making key appointments 
and establishing new schools or departments.  
It ensures that UniSIM acts to further its 
objectives in education and research, and that its 
funds and assets are safeguarded and properly 
accounted for.
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dr n varaprasad
Chairman

Cybrarian Ventures Pte Ltd

professor bernard tan
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key 
Academic 
Members professor cheong  

hee kiat
President

SIM University

associate professor  
genice ngg
Dean

School of Arts and Social Sciences

professor tsui  
kai chong
Provost

SIM University

associate professor  
yip woon kwong
Registrar

SIM University

professor koh  
hian chye
Dean

School of Business

5th anniversary feature

grounded in the past

Reaching 
for the 
future
SIM University (UniSIM) is dedicated to providing adults 
with the opportunity to pursue a university degree.

This year, UniSIM turns five.

In the league of established universities, 
where age is counted in decades, even 
centuries, ours is a brief history. Yet, we can 
be proud of these pioneering years. We have 
accomplished much and have set the  
course for a future in a fast-changing and 
competitive education landscape, one in 
which we will grow not just in physical size 
but also in the breadth and depth of our 
programmes and services.

We laid the foundations for a distinctive 
university geared to serving the nation by 
providing higher learning opportunities for 
working adults and adult learners. 

From small beginnings, backed by conviction, 
passion and hard work, we now have some 

10,700 students enrolled in 47 programmes, 
taught by over 700 full-time and associate 
faculty members. Our alumni network now 
numbers 13,600, and counting.

This remarkable growth would not have  
been possible without the support, 
encouragement and assistance from the 
government, employers, partners, board 
members, students and staff.

Together, we will continue to strive for  
learning that inspires minds, challenges 
paradigms and changes lives. We celebrate 
our past for the strong foundations that have 
been built. We welcome the future for the 
opportunities it will bring. 

Indeed, we are all set to seize the future  
here and now.

14

associate professor  
philip cheang
Dean

School of Science and Technology

professor tan  
ngoh tiong
Dean

School of Human Development  

and Social Services
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2005

2006 2008

> april SIM University (UniSIM) - Singapore’s first 
and only privately-funded university - is 
officially established with approval from the 
Ministry of Education.

Annual Report 2010

2007

2010

2009

17 18

HE President S R Nathan receiving a token of 
appreciation from Professor Cham Tao Soon.

HE President S R Nathan, Patron of UniSIM, at the inaugural convocation.

> october
SIM and UniSIM unveil 
Campus Development 
Master Plan and Phase 1 
of development at Topping 
Up Ceremony officiated 
by His Excellency 
President S R Nathan.

> june
UniSIM obtains 
registration for 
the Enhanced 
Registration 
Framework 
administered by 
the Council for 
Private Education 
for a 6-year period.

> june
UniSIM holds its 
first e-learning 
conference –  
ICT2010 Singapore, 
with some 300 
participants from 
16 countries.

The organising committee of ICT2010 Singapore.

> january
UniSIM commences 
classes with first intake 
which includes students 
absorbed from the SIM 
Open University Degree 
Programme run in 
collaboration with The 
Open University of the 
United Kingdom.

> september
His Excellency 
President S R 
Nathan consents 
to be Patron of 
UniSIM.
UniSIM appoints 
highly respected 
educator Professor 
Cham Tao Soon 
as Chancellor.

> september
UniSIM holds 
inaugural 
convocation for 
423 graduates.

THE Government will subsidise up to 40 per cent of
the cost of part-time degree programmes at four uni-
versities in Singapore for those who have not had
government-subsidised undergraduate education.

The subsidy will allow petrol station manager Cath-
erine Chua, 48, to continue pursuing her studies af-
ter she gets her diploma in retail management in
June.

This diploma, offered by the Singapore Institute
of Retail Studies, allows her to take a marketing
course at SIM University, with credit exemptions of
up to four modules.

She would otherwise have to pay about $25,000
for the course without a subsidy, says Madam Chua,
whose highest educational qualification is the A lev-
els.

By Fiona Chan

WORKING adults who want to further their ed-
ucation will now find it cheaper to do so.

The Government will subsidise the cost of
part-time undergraduate degree programmes
at four universities here, Finance Minister Thar-
man Shanmugaratnam said in his Budget
speech yesterday.

It will also make it eas-
ier for people who take
up academic, profession-
al or vocational courses
to claim tax reliefs for
their course fees.

These measures are
meant to “help Singapo-
reans who take the initia-
tive to upgrade them-
selves”, Mr Tharman
said.

The subsidies for
part-time programmes
will cover 40 per cent of
their cost. They will ap-
ply to Singapore citizens studying for their first
undergraduate degree.

The subsidies will be given for programmes
at the National University of Singapore, Nan-
yang Technological University, SIM University
and Singapore Management University.

Currently, only the first three institutions of-
fer part-time undergraduate degree pro-
grammes, which cover disciplines ranging from
real estate to engineering.

SMU does not have such programmes now,

but in the event that it introduces any in the fu-
ture, the subsidies will also extend to the SMU
programmes.

Fees for most of the existing courses fall be-
tween $20,000 and $30,000. A 40 per cent sub-
sidy would mean students could get up to
$12,000 shaved off their fees.

The subsidies are substantial, said Ms Wo
Lay Hoon, who works in customer service and
plans to enrol in a part-time degree pro-
gramme when she completes her diploma next
year.

“I’m deciding which course to take now,
and cost is of course important,” said Ms Wo,
34. “A 40 per cent subsidy is quite a lot.”

More help is also in
store, with course fee
tax reliefs to be extend-
ed to benefit more peo-
ple starting from next
year.

Those taking up voca-
tional courses will be
able to claim reliefs for
their fees regardless of
whether the course is rel-
evant to their current
employment. Before
this, only relevant cours-
es would qualify for re-
liefs.

Also, claims for aca-
demic or professional

courses can be now made within two years
from the time the courses are completed.

Previously, such claims could only be made
in the same year that the courses were taken.

But some taxpayers may not have been able
to benefit from these reliefs if they had no taxa-
ble income in the year they took those courses.

With this change, taxpayers can claim re-
liefs as soon as they have assessable income
above $22,000, within two years of assessment
from the year the course was completed.

fiochan@sph.com.sg

STUDENTS are set to get another boost to help
them continue their education after secondary
school.

The Government will spend $300 million to top
up their Post-Secondary Education (PSE) accounts,
which it introduced last year to defray the costs of
tertiary education.

Each student aged seven to 20 was originally
scheduled to get up to $400 this year, and a second
similar payout next year.

But with the huge Budget surplus this year, stu-
dents will receive a bonus payment of between $150
and $600 on top of the original amounts.

This extra payout will be distributed according to
the value of the student’s home.

Most students, including all who live in HDB
flats, will get a bonus of $300 if they are in primary
school and $600 if they are in secondary school or
older.

The rest live in homes that have an annual value
of more than $11,000, which includes most landed
properties. They will get $150 if they are in primary
school and $300 if they are in secondary school or
older.

Adding up all the payments, secondary school stu-
dents will have up to $1,400 in their accounts by
March next year to use for their post-secondary edu-
cation, said Finance Minister Tharman Shanmugarat-
nam in his Budget speech yesterday.

The funds can be used for further studies in ap-
proved institutions.

Currently, these include the three local universi-
ties – the National University of Singapore, the Nan-
yang Technological University and the Singapore
Management University – as well as the SIM Univer-
sity.

Also approved are Singapore’s five polytechnics,
the Institute of Technical Education, the LaSalle Col-
lege of the Arts, the Nanyang Academy of Fine Arts,
and seven leading training providers accredited by
the Workforce Development Agency.

The PSE account comes on top of the existing
Edusave Account, which students can use for enrich-
ment programmes and for tuition and school fees in
some cases.

Funds in the PSE account that are not used by the
time a student turns 30 will be channelled to his or
her Central Provident Fund account.

Primary school pupils are to get a basic payment
of $100 or $200 each year for this year and next,
while students in secondary school or older will get
$200 or $400, depending on the value of their
home.

Future top-ups in subsequent years will depend
on Budget surpluses.
FIONA CHAN

What’s in her hongbao

ST PHOTO: DESMOND LIM

LOWER SCHOOL FEES: The new subsidy cuts the fees Madam Chua, 48, a petrol station manager, has to pay for for her part-time degree programme.

Subsidy, which translates to a
discount of up to $12,000 off
school fees, aims to encourage
adults to upgrade themselves

Bonus $300m
to top up
education
accounts

BUDGET 2008

40 per cent
subsidy for
part-time
degree courses

CHEAPER EDUCATION

“I’m deciding which
course to take now,
and cost is of course
important. A 40 per
cent subsidy is quite
a lot.”
MS WO, 34

M9 MONEY SUPPLEMENT THE STRAITS TIMES SATURDAY, FEBRUARY 16 2008

The Straits 
Times  
16 February 
2008

> february
Ministry of Education further 
signals its endorsement of 
UniSIM by extending a 
government subsidy of 40% 
for Singaporeans and 20% for 
Singapore Permanent Residents 
taking the University’s 
undergraduate programmes.

By LEE U-WEN
HIGHER salaries, better
career prospects and mobil-
ity are just some of the
many payoffs for working
adults who have graduated
from SIM University (Uni-
SIM), according to a survey
whose findings were re-
leased yesterday.

The first such employ-
ment survey, conducted by
the Nielsen Company from
April to June this year via
telephone and online ques-
tionnaires, polled 1,002
graduates – about a third of
the total number that have
earned their degree from
UniSIM over the past five
years.

Most of those who re-
sponded were aged be-
tween 30 and 40 and main-
ly employed by the public
sector and multinational
corporations.

Chief among the fin-
dings was that one in two
respondents received a pay
rise after graduation. Of
these, the average rise was
about 15 per cent, while
nearly one in five had a sala-
ry jump of more than 30
per cent. Those who
changed jobs saw an aver-
age 21 per cent increase.

These numbers are
much higher than the na-
tional average wage hike of
5.9 per cent in 2007, ac-
cording to the latest Minis-
try of Manpower wages re-
port.

Better salaries aside,
many also saw their career
choices open up after ob-
taining their UniSIM de-

gree. One in five managed
to switch jobs within two
years after graduation, and
half of these moved to an
entirely different industry.

About 68 per cent who
changed jobs moved into a
different position either
within or across industries,
while among those who
stayed with the same com-
pany, 51 per cent were gi-
ven increased responsibili-
ties at work or moved into a
new position.

On why these working
adults decided to pick Uni-
SIM over other private edu-
cation providers, 87 per
cent found their course rele-

vant to their jobs, and felt
that a degree helped up-
grade their skills set and en-
hanced their prospects of
promotion and better pay.

Commenting on the re-
sults, UniSIM president
Cheong Hee Keat told BT:
“Since we became a univer-
sity in 2005, we’ve been
wanting to know the im-
pact of the education we
provide. I feel the best evi-
dence of how well we’re do-
ing is by hearing from our
own alumni.

“We’ve heard many an-
ecdotal examples of success-
ful graduates over the
years, but this formal sur-

vey now gives us a much
better sense.”

What’s also encoura-
ging, said Prof Cheong, was
that six in 10 respondents
indicated their desire to
pursue a master’s degree
or higher qualifications
within the next two years.

UniSIM is Singapore’s
first and only privately fun-
ded university to issue its
own degrees, which are rec-
ognised by the Ministry of
Education.

Since July this year, all
eligible adult students at
UniSIM enjoy government
subsidies of up to 40 per
cent for their degree cour-
ses.

Working adults find
the school’s courses
to be relevant
to their jobs

FILE PHOTO

Encouraging sign: Six in 10 respondents in a survey of SIM University graduates indicated their desire to pursue
a master’s degree or higher qualifications within the next two years

‘We’ve heard
many anecdotal
examples of
successful
graduates over
the years, but this
formal survey now
gives us a much
better sense.’

– Cheong Hee Keat,
UniSIM president

UniSIM degree proves
a career booster: poll
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> july
UniSIM 
commences its 
first postgraduate 
programme 
– Master in 
Technology 
Entrepreneurship.

Business Times 11 October 2008

AT SOME point in
their lives, four out of
five people are going
to suffer backache,
say doctors whom
Mind Your Body
spoke to for its story
this week.

The good news is
that much of this
pain can be prevent-
ed if we just pay at-
tention to the way we
live life and treat our
spines. Wear and tear
and self-inflicted trauma from work and sport con-
tribute to bad backs as much as illness and infec-
tion. Read all about the causes of back pain and
treatment options in Mind Your Body today.

Elsewhere in the issue, one couple tell us how
they cope and make every day count though one of
them has liver cancer and death looms ahead.

BY JANE NG

UPGRADING has paid off for working adults who at-
tended SIM University, according to a new study
commissioned by the school.

About half of the private university’s students
saw their salaries increase after graduation, while
about 20 per cent moved to different jobs after fin-
ishing their courses.

The poll, done by The Nielsen Company, is the
first comprehensive survey on the impact of contin-
uing education on the working lives of adults here.

Of the UniSIM graduates whose salary in-
creased, the average rise was about 15 per cent
while nearly one in five saw an improvement of
more than 30 per cent.

Those who changed jobs reported a 21 per cent
wage increase, compared to the national average of
6 per cent per last year, said UniSIM yesterday.

One UniSIM graduate, Mr Kit Chan, 29,
switched jobs after completing his Bachelor of Arts
in business studies. He is now working at a local
bank as an assistant vice-president and received a
30 per cent pay increase.

Mr Chan, who had a diploma in electrical engi-
neering from Singapore Polytechnic, said returning
to school improved his career prospects.

“My degree definitely played a part in landing
my current job. In the process, I also learnt better
time management as I juggled studies with my
work,” he said.

Apart from a better salary, 50 per cent of stu-
dents who changed jobs within two years of gradua-
tion moved to a different industry.

UniSIM is a privately-funded university recog-
nised by the Education Ministry.

Established in 2005, it provides higher education
programmes for 8,000 adult learners and issues its
own degrees.

The poll of its former students included respons-
es from just over 1,000 graduates who earned their
degrees between 2002 and last year.

The majority of those who responded were be-
tween 30 and 40 years old. Most worked in the pub-
lic sector and multinational corporations.

BY SUMATHI V. SELVARETNAM

SINGAPORE’S two biggest universi-
ties moved in opposite directions in
the latest survey of international uni-
versities by The Times of London High-
er Education supplement.

While the National University of
Singapore (NUS) rose three places to
No. 30, Nanyang Technological Uni-
versity (NTU) fell eight places to
No. 77 on the list of 200 universities.

Harvard kept its position at the top
while Yale moved ahead of Cambridge
University into second place. The Uni-
versity of Oxford came in fourth.

The University of Tokyo emerged
top in Asia at No. 19.

Kyoto University and the Universi-
ty of Hong Kong ranked 25th and
26th, ahead of NUS.

Other Asian universities in the top

50 were the Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, the Chinese
University of Hong Kong, Osaka Uni-
versity, Peking University and Seoul
National University.

NUS’ highly international faculty
and students moved it forward in the
rankings, said Mr Nunzio Quacquarel-
li, managing director of QS, the Lon-
don-based careers and education
group which compiles the highly-fol-
lowed rankings.

The four-year-old list, which
ranked universities in 33 countries this
year, is used by prospective students,
governments, employers, investors
and the universities themselves as a
guide.

More than half of NUS’ 2,103 facul-
ty members are from overseas.

The university was also viewed fa-
vourably by employers in Asia, as well
as its academic peers.

NUS president-designate, Profes-
sor Tan Chorh Chuan, said the univer-
sity was pleased to be consistently
ranked among the best in the world,
and promised to build innovative pro-
grammes which would cement its
place as a leading institution in Asia.

Six categories count towards the
ranking: academic peer review, em-
ployer review, faculty-to-student ra-
tio, citations per faculty, international
faculty, and international students.

The lion’s share of 40 per cent
comes from a university’s reputation
among its peers, while employers’
keenness to hire its graduates is a sig-
nificant 10 per cent.

International faculty and students
each contribute 5 per cent.

While NTU also did well in peer
and employer reviews, it lost out
slightly in the number of citations
gathered by faculty members.

Its academic publications were not
cited as often by academics in other
universities compared to the schools
ahead of it, said Mr Quacquarelli.

Publications which are influential
are cited more often, and stronger uni-
versities tend to be behind such work.

NTU president Su Guaning is opti-
mistic that NTU’s ranking will im-
prove in a few years when work by
new top faculty members will start to
have an impact.

Among them are Caltech geologist

Kerry Sieh and Associate Professor
Christos Panagopoulos, a highly-re-
garded young physicist in Europe, said
Dr Su.

Mr Quacquarelli also noted that
rankings were contentious and should
be used with caution as they cannot re-
flect all aspects of university excel-
lence.
sumathis@sph.com.sg
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The Straits Times 
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> october UniSIM announces results of Singapore’s first 
comprehensive graduate survey for working 
adults, showing that a UniSIM degree leads to 
better pay, career mobility and prospects.

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, President of UniSIM, (extreme right) mingling with attendees of the 
first Alumni Network event at Vivocity – a movie outing-cum-reception.

> october
UniSIM launches the 
Alumni Network to 
further connectedness 
between alumni and their 
alma mater, promote 
lifelong learning amongst 
alumni, foster personal and 
professional development, 
as well as encourage alumni 
involvement in contributing 
to the University’s progress.> july UniSIM launches 

its first Student 
Admissions Exercise 
with an offering of 
40 programmes. 
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Well
Wishes

Congratulations to UniSIM for being the 
stairway to progression in knowledge for aspiring 
working adults over the past five years. May 
UniSIM continue to excel in stature and standing, 
while it opens more doors of opportunities for 
generations of cohorts.

I’m very thankful to UniSIM 
for enabling me to fulfil my 
dream of obtaining a degree 
in psychology while juggling 
a job and a family.

quek keng liang
Chairman, Singapore Logistics Association

Business Advisory Panel Member, UniSIM

andrea wee
BSc Psychology with Business 

graduate, Class of 2009

Happy 5th anniversary UniSIM! I am sure 
UniSIM will develop into a great university for 
adult learners with many more anniversaries to 
celebrate. Continue to focus on adult learners 
and lifelong learning and introduce innovative 
programmes like the General Studies Programme 
(GSP). I enjoy GSP and will promote such 
programmes to my friends any time.

loh wai poon
General Studies Programme student

BSc Mathematics with Management graduate,  

Class of 2000

LTA Academy is pleased to partner UniSIM 
in delivering the Master of Science in Urban 
Transport Management programme jointly for 
aspiring professionals from Singapore and in 
the region. Happy 5th anniversary to UniSIM!

lew yii der
Group Director (Corporate Planning & Research)

Land Transport Authority

My very best wishes to UniSIM on your  
5th anniversary! Joyeux anniversaire!

associate professor samir attallah
Head of Programme (Electronics)

School of Science and Technology, UniSIM

lim kim lee
Diploma in Chinese-English 

Translation, Class of 2007

BA Chinese Language  

and Literature graduate,  

Class of 2005

From course development to teaching 10cu 
modules to e-course development to DBs and 
Wikis – it’s been five memorable years. Happy 
birthday, UniSIM! Looking forward to more 
exciting courses and many good years ahead.

peggy su
Associate Lecturer (marketing and 

Communications), UniSim

A toast to UniSIM,
As we celebrate UniSIM’s fifth year together,
You light the way for many individuals,
Whose dream is to get a degree but had missed 
opportunities in earlier years.

Your dedication to provide down-to-earth courses,
Have made you shine out among the rest, 
May you continue to shine throughout the many 
years to come; 
So, here’s to you: Three cheers!

campus it services, unisim

Congratulations 
UniSIM on your  
5th anniversary!

You have contributed 
significantly towards 
the development of the 
working community in 
Singapore and should 
be proud of your 
achievements to date. 
Well done! I wish you 
all the best and more 
great years to come!

wee cheow
Accountancy 

Advisory Panel 

member, UniSim

Congrats to UniSIM on reaching your 5th year 
of establishment. It had been a fruitful and 
enriching experience throughout my three 
years. To ensure work-life balance, I trusted and 
devoted my precious time to UniSIM which 
I believe was worth it. Thank you UniSIM as 
you have rewarded me with knowledge that has 
enabled me to excel in my career!

jasmine hu huimin
BSc marketing graduate, Class of 2008

You’re a pioneer in every sense of the word, 
UniSIM. May you continue to be a trailblazer 
for the next five years and beyond. Many 
happy returns!

frank chan boon pin
BA Psychology with Sociology student

Former Student Affairs Committee member (2007)

Happy birthday, UniSIM! Thanks for the 
enriching learning journey. It was one of the 
proudest moments in my life to have graduated 
with a recognised degree from UniSIM.

wong tim meng
BSc Finance graduate, 

Class of 2009

I am proud to be a part of UniSIM’s short but 
valuable legacy. May UniSIM continue to deliver 
wisdom and academic excellence in the years ahead.

allan chia beng hock
Head of Programme (marketing)

School of Business, UniSIM

UniSIM, thanks and congratulations! You have 
made a difference by investing in others’ lives.

lim bee ling
BSc Business graduate, Class of 2008

Wishing UniSIM many more years of growth 
and success in giving Singaporeans a lift-up in 
their learning journey!

dr n varaprasad
Chairman, Cybrarian Ventures Pte Ltd

Board of Trustees member, UniSIM
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MARkIng SeVeRAL FIRSTS 
The School of Arts and Social Sciences 
(SASS) has 11 undergraduate programmes 
and an enrolment of more than 3,100 for the 
year in review. 

The October 2010 convocation saw the 
School’s pioneering batch of graduates 
from Singapore’s first and only Translation 
and Interpretation programme. Two other 
programmes also saw their first cohort of 
graduates: the Bachelor of Arts in Chinese 
Language and Literature programme, and the 
Bachelor of Arts in Sociology programme.   

SeedIng neW PROgRAMMeS 
Preparations went into full swing to develop 
two new programmes to augment our 
repertoire of offerings related to the 
Chinese language.

school of arts and social sciences

Being a full-time mother, I chose UniSIM because it 
lets me study at my own pace. What I have learnt has 
helped me better understand human behaviour. I am 
more aware of my children’s development and can 
communicate better with them.

Ang Peh Ling

BSc Psychology student 
Homemaker

Broaden 
Perspectives
liberate minds

The new Bachelor of Arts in Chinese 
Language Education is a degree offered 
in collaboration with the Singapore Centre 
for Chinese Language, and focuses 
on teaching literacy, pedagogy and 
professional development for Chinese 
language teachers.

The Bachelor in Chinese Communication 
is the first Chinese-English bilingual 
communication programme in Singapore. 
It will equip graduates with a knowledge 
of Chinese histories and cultures, and 
hone their communication, critical thinking 
and analytical skills. They will become 
effective communicators in both English 
and Chinese, making them an asset 
to Singapore in its role as a gateway to 
both the East and West. 

Guest-of-honour, Mrs Yu-Foo Yee Shoon, Minister of State for 
Community Development, Youth and Sports (4th from right), 
Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, UniSIM President  (5th from right) 
with forum panellists and guests at the inaugural SASS social 
science forum.

UniSIM and Universitas Indonesia sign a Memorandum 
of Understanding to co-develop and deliver courses 
pertaining to Indonesian linguistics and literature for UniSIM’s 
undergraduate programme in Malay Language and Literature.



sim university24 Annual Report 2010 25

nuf Ideal bin Abu Bakar 

Bachelor of Communication student  
Police Officer
Singapore Police Force

engAgIng PARTneRS  
In line with UniSIM’s mission to enhance the 
quality and relevance of its programmes, 
SASS undertook strategic partnerships with 
several educational institutions.

The School signed a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with Universitas 
Indonesia in January to co-develop and deliver 
courses in Indonesian linguistics and literature 
for UniSIM’s undergraduate programme in 
Malay Language and Literature.

MOUs were also renewed with the Beijing 
Foreign Studies University and the Beijing 
Normal University to collaborate in course 
development, teaching resources and 
student exchange.  

keePIng An ACTIVe CALendAR 
The year saw a varied calendar of activities for 
students and faculty to exchange ideas with 
their peers and with community leaders. 

SASS held a social science forum, Staying 
Ahead of the Game: Singapore Takes a 
Gamble, which offered different perspectives 
on the issues, opportunities and challenges 
presented by the two integrated resorts. 
Graced by Mrs Yu-Foo Yee Shoon, Minister of 
State, Ministry of Community Development, 
Youth and Sports, the lively forum, moderated 

by UniSIM Academic Advisor Professor Aline 
Wong, featured four distinguished speakers. 
They were Mr Song Seng Wun from CIMB 
Research Pte Ltd, Associate Professor Ho 
Kong Chong from the National University 
of Singapore, Mr Jimmy Tay from Hill & 
Knowlton, Inc., and Reverend Sam Kuna from 
TCA College.

The School also hosted a visit by Mr Masagos 
Zulkifli, Senior Parliamentary Secretary for 
Education, in May. Mr Masagos met students 
in the Bachelor of Arts in Malay Language and 
Literature programme and discussed issues 
relevant to their studies.

ReCOgnISIng OUTSTAndIng 
STUdenT AChIeVeMenTS 
In recognition of UniSIM’s standing as a 
leading Singapore university, Lianhe Zaobao 
sponsored awards for the top Bachelor of Arts 
in Translation and Interpretation students in 
2010. Three graduates received the Lianhe 
Zaobao gold, silver and bronze awards for 
their outstanding academic performance.

SASS was also proud to see one of 
its graduates, Soon Kong Yong, from 
the Bachelor of Science in Psychology 
programme (2008), emerge top of his cohort 
in the Master of Environmental Science 
programme in 2010.

UniSIM gives working adults like me the opportunity 
to upgrade ourselves while juggling other commitments 
through its unique e-based and student-oriented 
learning. I have also learnt essential communication 
skills which are critical to me as a frontline officer in 
the Singapore Police Force.

The October 2010 convocation sees the first batch of graduates from the Translation and Interpretation programme.
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school of business
Stephen Tjoa

Partner, Human Resources 
People, Performance & Culture  
KPMG Advisory LLP

A yeAR OF SOLId gROWTh  
The School of Business (SBIZ) grew with 
more than 3,300 students enrolled in its nine 
undergraduate and three postgraduate degree 
programmes. The School also has more than 
1,800 students enrolled in its two diploma 
programmes in Management Studies and 
Employee Relations.

Undergirding the numbers is the growing 
confidence that students have in the industrial 
relevance and academic rigour of these 
programmes. Concurrent growth in the 
numbers of faculty and staff, and physical 
facilities has also ensured that resources 
match the increased enrolment.

MeeTIng IndUSTRy needS  
SBIZ’s slate of programmes offers variety 
for adult learners to upgrade themselves for 
the business world. It also systematically 
collaborates with industry players with the 
aim of building a pool of qualified business 
professionals. 

In January, SBIZ commenced the Bachelor 
of Accountancy programme in partnership 
with five key accounting firms, namely Don Ho 
& Associates, Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton, 
KPMG, Nexus Public Accounting Corporation 
and RSM Chio Lim. This first part-time 

Instill
Foresight
lead industry

Singapore is uniquely positioned as a global hub of finance and commerce, generating 
a huge demand for qualified finance and accounting professionals in global 
professional services firms like KPMG. 

We are proud to be associated with UniSIM’s accountancy programme; both 
to promote the profession and to equip aspirants with the competencies to be 
world-class accounting professionals who will contribute significantly to business, 
government and all areas of commerce.

accountancy degree programme offered by 
a Singapore university will see the firms’ 
senior staff, as well as senior staff from the 
Tax Academy of Singapore, collaborate in 
the programme.

The School also jointly developed the Master 
of Science in Urban Transport Management 
programme with the Land Transport Authority 
(LTA) Academy. Launched in July, this first-of-
its-kind broad-based programme in the region 
aims to equip aspiring professionals with 
specialised skills and knowledge to enable 
them to play a leading role in the management 
and development of land transport systems in 
cities around the world.

The year also saw SBIZ graduate its first batch 
of Honours students in the Management and 
Security Studies degree programme, which 
was specially developed for the Singapore 
Police Force and the HomeTeam NS. 

ReAChIng OUT TO STUdenTS 
And IndUSTRy   
SBIZ stepped up its outreach efforts and 
student activities in the past year with a 
variety of talks, seminars and visits.

Several industry seminars and talks, 
including Strategies of Siemen’s Energy 



sim university28 Annual Report 2010 29

Christopher Tan

mSc Urban Transport management student 
Senior Correspondent
The Straits Times

Division featuring Mr Anthoon Leemburg 
and So You are Thinking about Starting a 
Company? by Dr K F Lai, Chief Executive 
Officer and co-founder of BuzzCity, were 
held under the Let’s Talk Business@UniSIM 
public seminar series. Public outreach 
continued with events such as the 
UniSIM-Singapore Logistics Association 
seminar on Supply Chain Safety and 
Security Practices.

SBIZ also hosted the Athabasca University 
MBA Overseas Summer Programme in 
August, which involved industry visits, 
seminars and projects packaged by the 
School. Distinguished speakers from various 
organisations including the Ministry of 
Manpower and Singapore Tourism Board 
were invited to present seminars to the 
student participants. Besides attending 
seminars, these students who work in 
various private and public industry sectors 
in Canada, also visited companies such as 
PSA Corporation, TNT Express and InfoWave 
to help them gain a better understanding of 
businesses operating in Singapore.

LOOkIng AheAd
SBIZ will focus on programme improvements, 
continuous professional education and 
student activities in the year ahead. 

The School’s three most established 
programmes, namely Business, Finance 
and Marketing, are currently being reviewed 
to increase their industry relevance and 
academic rigour. This helps ensure that its 
graduates are well kept up with the ever-
changing challenges of the business world.

In the area of continuous professional 
education (CPE), the Certification in Business 
Analytics - a collaboration with the Infocomm 
Development Authority - is in the pipeline. A 
modular structure will also be implemented for 
the Master of Taxation to facilitate offering tax 
courses for CPE.

Collaboration with industry partners and 
professional bodies will continue, as will 
student activities in existing and new formats. 
These include industry talks and visits, public 
forums and external competitions. 

I chose UniSIM because I had heard only good things 
about it. I have many friends and associates who have 
obtained degrees or are in the process of getting one 
from the University. My wife also graduated from SIM.

My course has given me a deeper, more technical 
understanding of what goes into a successful 
transport project. 

(Right to left) Mr Yam Ah Mee, Chief Executive of LTA, 
Professor Cham Tao Soon, UniSIM Chancellor and Chairman, 
and Professor Cheong Hee Kiat, UniSIM President, at 
the launch of the Master of Science in Urban Transport 
Management programme.

Panellists at the UniSIM-Singapore Logistics Association 
public seminar on Supply Chain Safety and Security Practices 
taking questions from the audience.
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school of human development 
and social services

Maybelline Tan Siong eeh

Bachelor of Early Childhood Education with management student 
English Teacher
Little Village  

Stretch
Potential
develop people

ChARTIng MILeSTOneS
The School of Human Development and 
Social Services (HDSS) recorded several 
important milestones in 2010. The pioneer 
cohort of students in the Bachelor of 
Counselling, Bachelor of Social Work and 
Master of Social Work programmes were 
conferred their degrees.

It also saw the first General Studies 
Programme (GSP) student earn his degree 
since the programme was offered in 2008. 
The unique GSP enables students to choose 
from more than 200 courses offered by 
UniSIM’s four Schools and read their courses 
of choice at their own pace. The GSP 
continues to grow in variety and scope with 
new courses including Introduction to Critical 
Media Literacy, and The Law and You being 
introduced. To support this growth, HDSS’ 
faculty and administrative staff strength was 
increased accordingly.

On the enrolment front, the first intake of 
the Bachelor of Early Childhood Education 
with Management programme - developed 
in collaboration with the NTUC SEED 

The programme is so comprehensive, I feel 
like I am earning two degrees instead of one. 
Not only do I get to be trained as an early 
childhood professional, I also pick up business 
skills that help me better understand the 
dynamics of running a pre-school centre.

Institute - took off in January. Due to the 
enthusiastic response, the July intake 
was increased to admit almost twice as 
many students.

To cap off a year of achievements, HDSS 
Dean, Professor Tan Ngoh Tiong, was 
awarded the Distinguished Leadership 
Award for Internationals by his alma mater, 
the University of Minnesota. This prestigious 
award is given to international alumni of the 
University who have distinguished themselves 
as leaders in their professional careers.

HDSS now offers six Bachelor and two Master 
programmes, with an enrolment of over 1,100.

exTendIng exPeRTISe 
The School also runs the Counselling and 
Care Corner (C-three), set up in 2009. It 
endeavours to leverage its professional 
expertise to provide counselling services for 
students and staff. In just a year, C-three’s 
service has been well-received as its expertise 
was put to good use in a variety of situations 
to promote the well-being and growth of 
individuals seeking its services.
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PLAnnIng FOR The FUTURe
The year ahead looks set to be busy 
with a focus on the expansion of existing 
programmes as well as the introduction of 
new industry-relevant programmes.

HDSS will increase its efforts to promote 
existing programmes. The School is looking 
specifically at more outreach activities to 
pre-schools, such as kindergartens and 
childcare centres, to promote its Early 
Childhood Education programmes and to 
build and strengthen its ties in the early 
childhood sector.

Proposals for two new undergraduate 
programmes and two Master programmes 
have been approved by UniSIM’s Academic 
Board. The undergraduate programmes 
in Early Childhood and Chinese Language 
Education, and Human Resource 
Management with Military Studies are targeted 
for commencement in July 2011.

To address the rapidly ageing population in 
Singapore, and the concomitant need for 
trained professionals in the health, social 
and psychological services, HDSS will be 

launching a Master in Gerontology programme 
next year. This is an interdisciplinary 
programme as the School recognises that 
older persons have specialised needs and the 
ageing process is multi-dimensional.

HDSS will also be launching a Master of 
Human Capital Management programme 
in 2011, in line with the nation’s call to train 
and develop its valuable human capital 
and builds upon the success of SIM’s 
reputation in offering human resource 
management programmes.

Plans are being drawn up to introduce 
programmes in Community Development, 
Health Sciences, Nursing and Interdisciplinary 
Studies. A Master degree programme in Early 
Childhood Education, with specific focus on 
leadership, management and research is 
being considered. Workshops and seminars 
on Gerontological research and training are 
also being planned.

The School is poised to be a major and 
comprehensive provider of trained manpower 
for the human development and social 
services needs of Singapore.

Rick Ching han Meng

Bachelor of Human Resource management student
Management Support Officer (HR & Admin) 
Institute of Technical Education

I chose UniSIM after much research into institutions 
of higher learning. UniSIM caters to my learning needs 
as a working adult - an established organisation with 
government recognition and support; a conducive learning 
environment with the latest infrastructure and facilities; 
and an experienced faculty many of whom are industry 
practitioners.

Studying here has definitely improved my work performance 
as I learn from practitioners about HR trends, issues and 
practices. I can also better understand how I can contribute 
to my organisation’s goals which gives me leverage to move 
to the next level.

Professor Cham Tao Soon, UniSIM Chancellor and Chairman 
presenting Mr Tan Soon Lai, the first General Studies 
Programme graduate, with his degree.

Professor Tan Ngoh Tiong, Dean of HDSS, receiving the 
Distinguished Leadership Award for Internationals from 
Vice President Meredith McQuaid, Dean for International 
Programs, University of Minnesota.
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school of science and technology

harness 
Technology
foster enterprise

A ReWARdIng yeAR
Interest in the School of Science and 
Technology’s (SST) offerings continued to 
grow, a result of its slate of industry-relevant 
programmes and strong linkages with 
industry partners.

Three Bachelor programmes were launched 
- Facilities and Events Management, Human 
Factors in Safety and Aviation Management. 
The School now has one postgraduate and 
14 undergraduate programmes, and an 
enrolment of nearly 3,000.

IndUSTRy ReLeVAnCe 
SPURS gROWTh
The year saw nine new alliances established 
with various educational institutions, industry 
players and government organisations. 
These include signings with Oracle, 
Embry-Riddle Aeronautical University 
(ERAU), Singapore Workforce Development 
Agency (WDA), Building and Construction 
Authority (BCA), Seerpharma, Temasek 
Polytechnic and Nanyang Polytechnic. 
These alliances support SST’s efforts to 
continuously improve the quality and industrial 
relevance of its programmes.

Two Memoranda of Understanding (MOUs) 
and one Agreement were also signed. 
The first MOU with Singapore Polytechnic 

and BCA, signed in January, has resulted 
in the development of an undergraduate 
degree programme in facilities and events 
management to groom professionals who 
would function well in both areas.

The second MOU with ERAU and WDA, 
signed in February, aims to develop and 
enhance the manpower capabilities of 
the aviation and aerospace workforce in 
Singapore. Under the Agreement, UniSIM 
and ERAU will offer dual degree programmes 
in Aviation Business Administration and in 
Aviation Maintenance. This is a landmark 
collaboration as it will be the first time 
that ERAU – the world’s leading aviation 
and aerospace university based in the 
United States – is collaborating with an 
Asian partner to offer its undergraduate 
degree programmes. 

These new programmes will add to UniSIM’s 
expanding repertoire of aerospace and 
aviation offerings, and give wings to SST’s 
rising aspiration to be a school of choice in 
this area.

The SST faculty also garnered seven applied 
research projects that are co-funded by 
industry partners such as Collexius Associates 
Pte Ltd and Bio-Scaffold International Pte Ltd.

Chong yan Peng

BSc Human Factors in Safety student  
Administrative Associate
Water Pacific Pte Ltd

My programme is the first of its kind 
in Singapore and offered only by 
UniSIM. My biggest takeaway is the 
knowledge I have gained, which I can 
apply immediately. For example, I have 
learnt how to apply ergonomics at my 
workplace, which has helped to improve 
my colleagues’ comfort and safety.  I can 
now also view and analyse situations 
from different perspectives. 
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engAgIng PROgRAMMeS 
And ACTIVITIeS
In the area of public outreach and to benefit 
students in its various disciplines, SST 
organised numerous public symposia and 
seminars focusing on key areas such as 
human factors in safety, airport planning and 
airport transport management, e-learning and 
biotechnology. The events featured prominent 
industry speakers from organisations such as 
Cordlife and Kingdee.

During the year, SST also welcomed several 
visitors to share insights and experiences on 
issues relevant to the School’s programmes. 
These include Dr John P Johnson, President 
of ERAU; Professor Lin Kuen, Co-Director of 
the FAA Center of Excellence in Advanced 
Materials for Transport Aircraft Structures, 
Department of Aeronautics and Astronautics, 
University of Washington; as well as a group 
from the US Air Force, led by Dr John Seo of 

Benedict Tan

managing Director
BCA Academy

The Inter-Ministerial Committee on Sustainable Development 
has set the target of “greening” 80% of all buildings in Singapore 
by 2030. To achieve this goal, an estimated 20,000 green 
building specialists will have to be trained over the next decade. 

The BCA Academy is proud and honoured to partner UniSIM, 
an established institution of higher learning, to deliver an 
innovative degree programme for training a new generation of 
facility managers equipped with the knowledge and skills to 
manage green buildings.

USAF Office of Scientific Research and 
Dr Michael Ol of USAF Research Laboratory.

In The PIPeLIne
SST will continue to increase its slate of 
programmes related to the aeronautical and 
aviation industry. The Bachelor of Science in 
Aviation Business Administration programme 
is targeted to commence in January 2011. 
New courses focusing on technical-based 
knowledge in aviation maintenance will also 
be introduced.

SST will also continue to provide relevant 
technology and engineering certification 
courses that would enhance the 
competency and industrial recognition of 
the working adults. The School plans to hold 
joint practitioner training seminars and 
activities with professional societies and 
organisations to award professional continuing 
education points.

Signatories of the UniSIM-ERAU-WDA MOU (left to right): 
Mr Martin A Smith, Executive Vice President, ERAU; Professor 
Tsui Kai Chong, Provost, UniSIM; and Mr Anil Das, Senior 
Director, Industry Skills and Planning Office, WDA.

Ms Grace Fu, Senior Minister of State for National 
Development and Education (centre) witnesses UniSIM, 
Singapore Polytechnic and BCA formalising 
their collaboration on the BSc Facilities and Events 
Management programme.
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postgraduate programmes and research

Push 
Boundaries
transform lives

POSTgRAdUATe PROgRAMMe FIRSTS   
A sign of the growing stature of UniSIM in the 
academic world is its partnerships with key 
organisations in postgraduate programmes. 
It partnered with the LTA Academy to offer 
the region’s first postgraduate programme in 
Urban Transport Management. An MOU and 
partnership were also established between 
UniSIM and Nanjing University to offer a 
doctoral programme in Chinese Language 
and Literature.

In all, three new programmes, viz., Master 
of Counselling, Master of Science in Urban 
Transport Management, and PhD in Chinese 
Language and Literature, were launched in 
2010. With these new programmes, UniSIM’s 
postgraduate offerings now stand at six with a 
student enrolment of 150.

To manage the growing workload of 
academic, examinations and postgraduate 
student matters, UniSIM’s Office of 

Graduate Studies launched an online 
e-application and examination administration 
system in April 2010.  

APPLIed ReSeARCh FOR IndUSTRy   
The Centre for Applied Research (CFAR) 
increased the number of its projects in the 
year. Six faculty-led research projects were 
completed while 12 new ones were added. 
The new research projects included Impact 
of Social Media on Youths in Singapore, 
Disaster Management in Asia, and Injectable 
Self-Hardening Bioactive Composite Paste for 
Bone Tissue Engineering. As in the past years, 
several of these new projects were co-funded 
or supported by industry partners, including 
Singapore Technologies Kinetics Ltd and BG 
Intrade Pte Ltd.

Industry engagement continued during 
the year with CFAR conducting two major 
surveys, the quarterly Business Times-UniSIM 
Business Climate Survey, into its fourth year, 
and the LTA Public Transport Customer 
Satisfaction Survey, into its second year.

During the last quarter of 2010, CFAR also 
received a commission from the People’s 
Association to carry out a large-scale survey, 
covering more than 30,000 randomly selected 
households across Singapore, on the 
Association’s programmes.  

Postgraduate students participating in a team–building activity 
during their orientation.

Mr Sutowo Wong, Decision Science Director, Carlson Marketing, 
presenting a CFAR seminar on Brand Relationship Strength.

Vikram khanna

Associate Editor 
The Business Times

The quarterly BT-UniSIM Business Climate Survey 
serves as an invaluable indicator of overall business 
sentiment. It has proved to be an uncannily accurate 
early warning signal on the state of the economy; the 
results of the poll correlate strongly with GDP growth 
the following quarter. The survey, which typically covers 
150-200 companies, also yields revealing insights into 
corporate sentiment towards overseas markets, key areas 
of opportunity and issues of concern.
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quality assurance

LeARnIng TO TeACh   
UniSIM set up the Teaching and Learning 
Centre (TLC) in July 2010 to equip its 
faculty for their teaching roles and to 
foster a strong academic community of 
full-time and associate faculty. The Centre 
will support the teaching and delivery 
of academic programmes through the 
sharing of educational initiatives, innovative 
pedagogies, and learning resources and 
technologies. UniSIM’s students are working 
adults with diverse learning needs, and many 
programmes are highly practice-oriented and 
taught by experienced industry professionals. 
TLC aims to enhance teaching effectiveness 
by further supporting and training these 
associate faculty members to adequately 
equip them for a teaching style that is suited 
to adult learning.

enhance 
Learning
achieve excellence

nadia ko Li Wen

BA Psychology with Business student  
Flight Stewardess
A Leading Airline

I chose UniSIM because it is 
well-recognised, the programme is 
subsidised by the government and 
the lessons are scheduled to cater to 
working adults.

Time management is essential to 
fulfilling my commitments at work, 
home and university. UniSIM’s 
e-learning modules and the flexibility 
it gives me to select what I want to 
do each semester have allowed me to 
better manage my time. 

Studying at UniSIM has not only 
expanded my knowledge but also 
instilled discipline and improved my 
time management skills – abilities 
which I believe will aid me in future. 
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Professor Tsui Kai Chong, Provost of UniSIM, briefing newly-
appointed associate faculty members.

Forum panellists deliberating on Open Education Resources: 
The Future of Education during the ICT2010 Singapore 
conference.

the Learning Management System adopted 
for teaching and learning at UniSIM. 
Additionally, 80 new faculty members were 
taught techniques in e-moderation and how 
to grade online discussions.

To complement these efforts, a 
resource website, eLearn@UniSIM 
(http://elearn.unisim.edu.sg), was launched 
to provide resources on how to e-teach, 
e-develop and e-learn.

As a first for UniSIM, the innovative use of 
Web 2.0 tools - blogs, wikis and e-portfolios 
- was incorporated into the design of some 
e-courses. Students used blogs to present 
assignments and share knowledge in 
Visual Text and Communication, Creative 
Advertising and Copywriting and Cross 
Cultural Intelligence. Wiki was deployed 
as a platform for collaborative writing in 
Advertising and Promotion, whilst students 
from Public Affairs and Reporting used 
e-portfolios as a repository for their works, 
as well as a tool for peer review.

UniSIM also organised its first international 
e-learning conference – ICT2010 Singapore, 
supported by the Infocomm Development 
Authority. There were 54 presentations which 
included a forum and four keynote deliveries 
by prominent academics in educational 
technology, online learning strategies and the 

design and development of e-content. 
In keeping with the theme of the conference, 
Inspired Solutions, Empowering Learning 
- Using Technology to Collaborate, Adapt 
and Improve Adult Learning, two keynote 
presentations were delivered via video 
conferencing from San Diego, USA and 
Berlin, West Germany.  
 
ASSURIng QUALITy And  
MAInTAInIng STAndARdS  
The Quality Assurance Unit had a busy year 
steering the University through its application 
for registration under MOE’s new Enhanced 
Registration Framework administered by the 
latter’s Council for Private Education. With 
quality systems already well in place, UniSIM 
received the full six-year Grant of Registration. 
It now has the continual task of due diligence 
in maintaining these standards as required 
under the Private Education Act.

The Unit also consolidated and rationalised 
the University’s policies and processes to 
meet the requirements of MOE’s Quality 
Assurance Framework for Universities (QAFU) 
audit, which will take place in 2012. The QAFU 
is a regulatory framework for all government-
recognised universities, including the publicly-
funded universities and UniSIM.

On the busy work schedule for 2011 are 
a training masterplan for the professional 
development of associate academic staff and 
the creation of channels for the spontaneous 
exchange of ideas, tips, teaching strategies, 
pedagogical research and updates on UniSIM 
academic policies, as well as fostering of a 
strong community spirit.

Also on the cards is the introduction of the 
Teaching Merit and the Teaching Excellence 
Awards to promote excellence in teaching, 
and to recognise outstanding associates. 
These awards will be given out for the first 
time in February 2011.    
 
TeChnOLOgy In eFFeCTIVe  
e-LeARnIng   
UniSIM judiciously harnesses technology 
through the Educational Technology and 
Production Department to enable its students 
to learn anywhere, anytime, at any pace. 
Fourteen new e-courses were developed and 
presented, bringing the total of such courses 
to 38.

To ensure effective e-learning for students, 
full-time and associate faculty members and 
other support staff members were trained 
to provide online learning support and 
facilitation of e-course delivery. Some 140 
new staff and faculty members were also 
trained in the use of MyUniSIM Blackboard, 
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Tan hui Shan

BEng Electronics graduate 
Senior Associate Engineer 
Creative Technology Ltd 

students and alumni

Build 
networks
pursue success

engAgIng FOR gReATeR InTegRATIOn 
With potential synergies to be tapped from 
over 13,600 alumni and nearly 10,700 
students, efforts through the year were 
focussed on encouraging greater integration 
among students and alumni through events 
and activities.

One highlight among the slew of activities was 
a Student and Alumni Tea Reception with His 
Excellency President S R Nathan, Patron of 
UniSIM, in October. At this event, the President 
also unveiled the UniSIM Alumni logo. 
The logo, showing a “U” formed by two 
persons holding hands, symbolises the value 
of connection, communication, collaboration 
and camaraderie between and among  
students and alumni. It also depicts the 
seamless progression of the student into  
the alumni community.

Another key event was the UniSIM Graduates’ 
Night 2010 held at the Arena. Graced by Mr 
Lim Boon Heng, Minister in the Prime Minister’s 

I chose UniSIM because its programmes are recognised 
by the Ministry of Education. I found that it provided 
flexibility for working adults like me while the faculty 
members tailored their pedagogical skills to suit adult 
learners.

The independent learning environment has honed my 
critical thinking skills and made me a more strategic 
thinker. I am better able to evaluate issues and make 
important decisions at work.

Mohd noor Mohd hussein 

BA English Language and 
Literature graduate 
Senior Manager
School of Languages, Management 
Development Institute of Singapore 

Joan ho

BSc Psychology with 
Business graduate 
Secretary
Government of Singapore Investment 
Corporation Pte Ltd

I gained more confidence in 
myself while studying at UniSIM. 
Regardless of the subject matter, be 
it work, life or social, I now look at 
issues from a different perspective. 
My work skills have improved and I 
resolve problems more quickly. 

The knowledge and skills I acquired 
at UniSIM have greatly enhanced my 
social network, life and relationships 
with colleagues and family members.

At work, I am goal-oriented and am 
a better team player while my social 
relationships are more positive. My 
family is functioning better as our 
communication has improved. I am 
enjoying a better quality of life.
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The SIM University Education Fund (SUEF) Committee oversees the management 
of all tax-deductible donations and endowment funds of UniSIM. It establishes 
the guiding principles for the management and utilisation of the Fund. It also 
maintains separate accounting records for disbursements from the Fund, as well 
as for donations received.

mr lim soon hock (Chairman)

Managing Director, Plan-B IGAG Pte Ltd

professor cham tao soon
Chancellor and Chairman, SIM University

professor bernard tan
Professor of Physics, National University of Singapore

(with effect from 1 June 2010)

mr han vo-ta
Managing Director, VOTA Management Pte Ltd

(until 10 May 2010)

professor chong chi tat
University Professor, Department of Mathematics, 

National University of Singapore

professor leo tan wee hin
Director (Special Projects), National University of Singapore

mr lam siew wah
Deputy Chief Executive Officer (Industry & Corporate 

Development), Building & Construction Authority

dr josephine kwa lay keng
Chief Operating Officer, NSL Ltd

mr robin hu yee cheng
Senior Executive Vice President, Singapore Press Holdings

mr ronald tan
Executive Director, Singapore Institute of Management

professor cheong hee kiat
President, SIM University

SIM 
University
education fund 
committee

Office, this event, organised by the Alumni, saw 
some 330 people joining in the festivities.

To enhance the connection between students 
and alumni, the UniSIM Student Mentoring 
Service, started in November 2009, was 
expanded as many students have benefitted 
from the invaluable industry experience and 
knowledge of their alumni volunteer mentors.

SUPPORTIng STUdenTS
The Student Support Department continued 
to work with Schools and Departments to 
streamline and improve processes to enhance 
administrative support to students. A key effort 
was to improve the internal turnaround time for 
cases needing inputs from multiple parties.  

To facilitate a smooth start for new students 
on their learning journey, orientation activities, 
including workshops and seminars, were 
organised in January and July for freshmen 
to meet their fellow coursemates and faculty 
staff.  An orientation microsite further provided 
additional information to students.

The 2010 convocation ceremony saw 1,482 
students graduate from UniSIM, among them 
the inaugural batches from the Bachelor 
programmes in Counselling, Social Work, 
Business Analytics, Information Technology 
and Business – ERP and the Master 
programmes in Environmental Science, Social 
Work, Taxation and General Studies.

HE President S R Nathan with some Student and Alumni Tea Reception attendees after launching the UniSIM Alumni logo.

Mr Lim Boon Heng, Minister in Prime Minister’s Office (centre) together with the Graduates’ Night 2010 Organising Committee members.
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The Board of Trustees presents its report together with the audited financial statements of SIM University (“UniSIM”) for the 
year ended December 31, 2010.

1 TRUSTEES

 The Trustees of UniSIM in office at the date of this report are:
  

Professor Cham Tao Soon (Chairman)
 Professor Cheong Hee Kiat (Ex-Officio)
 Professor Chong Chi Tat
 Mr Richard Eu Yee Ming
 Mr Er Kwong Wah
 Mr Lee Kwok Cheong
 Mr Ong Boon Hwee
 Mr Ronald Tan Hee Huan
 Dr N Varaprasad
 Mr Han Vo-Ta (Resigned on May 10, 2010)
 Professor Aline Wong
 Mr Chan Heng Kee
 Mr Jeffrey Siow Chen Siang
 Professor Bernard Tan Tiong Gie (Appointed on June 1, 2010)

2  ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE TRUSTEES TO ACQUIRE BENEFITS BY MEANS OF THE ACQUISITION 
OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES

  Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year did there subsist any arrangement whose 
object is to enable the Trustees of UniSIM to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares or debentures in 
any other body corporate.

3 TRUSTEES’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND DEBENTURES

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(6)(g) and Section 201(6A)
(h) of the Companies Act, Cap 50.

4 TRUSTEES’ RECEIPT AND ENTITLEMENT TO CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

  Since the beginning of the financial year, no Trustees has received or become entitled to receive a benefit which is 
required to be disclosed under Section 201(8) of the Singapore Companies Act, by reason of a contract made by 
UniSIM or a related corporation with the Trustee or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in which 
he has a substantial financial interest except for salaries, bonuses and other benefits as disclosed in the financial 
statements.  Certain Trustees received remuneration from related corporations in their capacity as directors and/or 
executives of those related corporations.

5 OPTIONS TO TAKE UP UNISSUED SHARES

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11)(b) and Section 201(12) 
of the Companies Act, Cap 50.

report of the trustees
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6 OPTIONS EXERCISED

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11) and Section 201(12)  
of the Companies Act, Cap 50.

7 UNISSUED SHARES UNDER OPTION

  As UniSIM is limited by guarantee, there are no matters to be disclosed under Section 201(11) and Section 201(12)  
of the Companies Act, Cap 50.

8 AUDITORS

 The auditors, Deloitte & Touche LLP, have expressed their willingness to accept re-appointment.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

Professor Cham Tao Soon

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

March 11, 2011

In the opinion of the Trustees, the financial statements as set out on pages 7 to 35 are drawn up so as to give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of SIM University as at December 31, 2010, and of the results, changes in funds and reserves 
and cash flows of SIM University for the financial year ended December 31, 2010 and at the date of this statement there are 
reasonable grounds to believe that SIM University will be able to pay its debts when they fall due.

ON BEHALF OF THE TRUSTEES

Professor Cham Tao Soon

Professor Cheong Hee Kiat

March 11, 2011

statement by trusteesreport of the trustees
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of SIM University which comprise the statement of financial position 
as at December 31, 2010, the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in funds and reserves and cash flow 
statement for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, as set out on 
pages 5 to 31.

MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that gives a true and fair view in accordance with the 
provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards and for devising and 
maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded 
against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they are recorded as 
necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to maintain accountability  
of assets.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to SIM University’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of SIM University’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the financial statements of SIM University are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the 
Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of SIM University 
as at December 31, 2010 and of the results, changes in funds and reserves and cash flows of SIM University for the year 
ended on that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by SIM University have been properly kept 
in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP
Public Accountants and
Certified Public Accountants

Singapore
March 11, 2011

independent auditors’ report to 
the trustees of sim university

statement of financial position
December 31, 2010

    NOTE 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000

ASSETS

Current assets
Cash and bank balances 7 79,963 82,020
Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments 8 8,006 6,315
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 9 2,028 1,992
Held-to-maturity financial assets 10   19,077   10,042
Total current assets  109,074 100,369

Non-current assets
Held-to-maturity financial assets 10 8,728      -     
Plant and equipment 11 11,872 10,730
Available-for-sale investments 12   23,898   16,547
Total non-current assets    44,498   27,277

Total assets  153,572 127,646

LIABILITIES, FUNDS AND RESERVES

Current liabilities
Course fees received in advance  4,999 10,084
Government grants received in advance 13 307 294
Other payables 14   16,514   11,030
Total current liabilities    21,820   21,408

Funds and reserves
General fund  42,960 26,918
Education fund:
 Accumulated surplus  86,754 77,247
 Fair value reserve 16    1,865    1,940
    15 88,619 79,187
Other restricted funds 17       173       133
Total funds and reserves  131,752 106,238

Total liabilities, funds and reserves  153,572 127,646

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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    Education Fund

      Fair  Other
    General Accumulated value  restricted
       fund        surplus     reserve Total    funds    Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Balance at January 1, 2009 14,298 66,891 (777) 66,114 360 80,772

Total comprehensive income
 for the year 12,620 10,356 2,717 13,073 (227)   25,466

Balance at December 31, 2009 26,918 77,247 1,940 79,187 133 106,238

Total comprehensive income
 for the year 16,042   9,507    (75)   9,432   40   25,514

Balance at December 31, 2010 42,960 86,754 1,865 88,619 173 131,752
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    Note 2010 2009
     $’000 $’000

Operating activities
 Net surplus for the year  25,549 22,976
 Adjustments for:
  Depreciation  4,997 5,001
  Interest income  (1,102) (907)
  Grant income – Government grants  (104) (139)
  Other restricted funds utilised  (366) (228)
  Gain on disposal of plant and equipment  (1) (1)
  Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments  (1,065) -     
  Loss on disposal of held-to-maturity investments  93 -     
  Plant and equipment written off  -      7
  Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contracts  (83) 152
  Change in fair value of fair value through profit or loss investments  (36) (287)
  Management fees expense on available-for-sale investments        96       76
 Surplus before movements in working capital  27,978 26,650

  Sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments  (1,427) 2,301
  Course fees received in advance  (5,085) (4,725)
  Other payables    5,484   1,987
 Cash generated from operations  26,950 26,213

 Interest received    1,133      718
Net cash from operating activities  28,083 26,931

Investing activities
 Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment  1 1
 Purchase of plant and equipment  (6,139) (6,395)
 Purchase of available-for–sale investments  (13,460)     -     
 Proceeds on matured held-to-maturity financial assets  10,000 4,000
 Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets  (27,805) (5,005)
 Proceeds on matured available-for-sale investments    6,952     -     
Net cash used in investing activities  (30,451)  (7,399)

Financing activities
 Grants received from the government  130 120
 Grants refunded to the government  (13) -     
 Other restricted funds received       194         1
Net cash from financing activities       311     121

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents  (2,057) 19,653
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  82,020 62,367
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 7 79,963 82,020

1 GENERAL

 UniSIM (UEN 200504979Z) is incorporated in Singapore as a company limited by guarantee with its principal place 
of business and registered office at 461 Clementi Road, Singapore 599491. It is also subject to the provisions of the 
Charities Act, Chapter 37. The financial statements are expressed in Singapore dollars.

 The principal activities of UniSIM are those relating to the advancement of education and dissemination of knowledge, 
the promotion of research and the conferring and awarding of degrees, diplomas and certificates.

 The financial statements of UniSIM for the year ended December 31, 2010 were authorised for issue by the Board  
of Trustees on March 11, 2011.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

 BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, 
except for the revaluation of certain non-current assets and financial instruments, and are drawn up in accordance 
with the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards (“FRS”).

  

 ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - In the current financial year, UniSIM has adopted all the new 
and revised FRSs and Interpretations of FRS (“INT FRS”) that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2010. The adoption of these new/revised FRSs and INT FRSs does not 
result in changes to UniSIM’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported for the  
current or prior years.

 At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the following FRS that is relevant to UniSIM was issued  
but not effective:

	 •	 Improvements	to	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(issued	in	October	2010)
	 •	 FRS	24	(Revised)	–	Related	Party	Disclosures

 Consequential amendments were also made to various standards as a result of the new standards.

 The Trustees anticipate that the adoption of the above FRSs, INT FRSs and amendments to FRSs that in future periods 
will not have a material impact on the financial statements of UniSIM in the period of their initial adoption.

 

 GENERAL FUND - Income and expenditure are generally accounted for under the General Fund in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income.

 EDUCATION FUND - The SIM University Education Fund (“Education Fund”) is conferred the Institution of a Public 
Character status. Accordingly, all donations made to the Education Fund will be tax deductible for the donors.

 The income and expenditure relating to the Education Fund are accounted for under the Education Fund in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income.

cash flow statement
Year ended December 31, 2010

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2010
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 OTHER RESTRICTED FUNDS - Sponsorship-Awards fund and other funds comprising donations and sponsorships, 
which are kept intact as capital, are directly taken to the fund in the year in which such donations and sponsorships 
are received for the purpose of awarding of scholarships, medals, prizes to deserving students, developing standards 
in e-learning and development of program lectures and research for project proof of concept.

 Comprehensive Income arising from the management of the fund is taken directly to Sponsorship-Awards fund 
account and other funds account. Income designated to fund specific activities or programmes will be transferred 
from the fund to the Statement of Comprehensive Income to match the designated expenditure. Any shortfall of 
income from the fund for a particular year will be taken directly to profit or loss.

 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on UniSIM’s statement of financial 
position when UniSIM becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

 Financial assets
 Investments are recognised and de-recognised on a trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under 

a contract whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, 
and are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs, except for those financial assets classified as at fair value 
through profit or loss which are initially measured at fair value.

 Other financial assets are classified into the following specified categories: “financial assets at fair value through profit 
or loss”, “available-for-sale” financial assets and “loans and receivables”. The classification depends on the nature and 
purpose of financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)
 Financial assets are classified as at FVTPL where the financial asset is either held for trading or it is designated as  

at FVTPL.

 A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

	 •	 it	has	been	acquired	principally	for	the	purpose	of	selling	in	the	near	future;	or
 
	 •	 it	 is	a	part	of	an	 identified	portfolio	of	financial	 instruments	 that	UniSIM	manages	 together	and	has	a	 recent	 

actual pattern of short-term profit-taking; or 
 
	 •	 it	is	a	derivative	that	is	not	designated	and	effective	as	a	hedging	instrument.

 A financial asset other than a financial asset held for trading may be designated as at FVTPL upon initial  
recognition if:

	 •	 such	designation	eliminates	or	 significantly	 reduces	a	measurement	or	 recognition	 inconsistency	 that	would	
otherwise arise; or

	 •	 the	financial	asset	forms	part	of	a	group	of	financial	assets	or	financial	liabilities	or	both,	which	is	managed	and	
its performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with UniSIM’s documented risk management 
or investment strategy, and information about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

	 •	 it	 forms	part	of	a	contract	containing	one	or	more	embedded	derivatives,	and	FRS	39	 (Financial	 Instrument:	
Recognition and Measurement) permits the entire combined contract (asset or liability) to be designated as  
at FVTPL.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised 
in profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss incorporates any dividend or interest earned on the 
financial asset. Fair value is determined in the manner described in Note 4.

 Held-to-maturity investments
 Bonds with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturity dates where UniSIM has a positive intent and  

ability to hold to maturity are classified as held-to-maturity investments. Held-to-maturity investments are recorded 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment, with revenue recognised on an effective  
yield basis.

 
 Available-for-sale financial assets
 Certain investments held by UniSIM are classified as being available for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value  

is determined in the manner described in Note 4. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised 
in other comprehensive income with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated using the effective 
interest method and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets which are recognised directly in profit 
or loss. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss when UniSIM’s right to receive 
payments is established. The fair value of available-for-sale monetary assets denominated in a foreign currency is 
determined in that foreign currency and translated at the spot rate at end of the reporting date. The change in fair 
value attributable to translation differences that result from a change in amortised cost of the asset is recognised  
in profit or loss, and other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income.

 Effective interest method
 The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of allocating 

interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financial 
instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense are recognised on an effective interest basis 
for debt instruments.

 Sundry debtors
 Sundry debtors that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market are classified as 

“loans and receivables”. Sundry debtors are initially measured at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest is recognised by applying the effective interest rate 
method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

 Impairment of financial assets
 Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets 

are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have been impacted.

 For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the  
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.

  The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the 
exception of sundry debtors where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. When 
a sundry debtor is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts 
previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the allowance 
account are recognised in profit or loss.
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 With the exception of available-for-sale equity instruments, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was 
recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss, to the extent the carrying 
amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have 
been had the impairment not been recognised.

 In respect of available-for-sale equity instruments, any subsequent increase in fair value after an impairment loss,  
is recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

 Derecognition of financial assets
 UniSIM derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,  

or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another 
entity. If UniSIM neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues 
to control the transferred asset, UniSIM recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for 
amounts it may have to pay. If UniSIM retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred 
financial asset, UniSIM continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing  
for the proceeds received.

 Financial liabilities

 Other financial liabilities
 Other payables are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at 

amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.

 Derecognition of financial liabilities
 UniSIM derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, UniSIM’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they 

expire.

 Derivative financial instruments
 UniSIM uses derivative financial instruments such as forward foreign currency exchange contracts to manage its 

exposure to foreign exchange rate risk.

 Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit  
or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing 
of the recognition in income and expenditure statements depends on the nature of the hedge relationship. UniSIM 
designates certain derivatives as hedges of highly probable forecast transactions.

 A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is 
more than 12 months and it is not expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented 
as current assets or current liabilities.

 LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

 Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits 
from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense 
in the period in which they are incurred.

 

 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses. Artifacts and painting included in office equipment, furniture and fittings are  
not depreciated.

 Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line 
method, on the following bases:

 Renovations - 25%
 Office equipment, furniture and fittings (excluding artifacts and paintings) - 25%
 Computers - 33.33%
 Motor vehicles - 20%

 Fully depreciated assets still in use are retained in the financial statements.

 The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year end, with the effect  
of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

 The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

 IMPAIRMENT OF ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, UniSIM reviews the carrying amounts of its 
assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment 
loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, UniSIM estimates  
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

 Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

 If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,  
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss  
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the 
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

 Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does  
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for  
the asset (cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when UniSIM has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a 
past event, it is probable that UniSIM will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of 
the amount of the obligation.

 The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation 
at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where 
a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the 
present value of those cash flows.
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 When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, 
the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the 
receivable can be measured reliably.

 GOVERNMENT GRANTS – These represent contributions made by the government for UniSIM. Government grants received 
for the purchase of plant and equipment or to meet operating expenses are taken to the government grants received in 
advance account. Grants for the purpose of plant and equipment are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income over the periods necessary to match the depreciation of the assets purchased with the related grants. Government 
grants to meet operating expenses are recognised as income in the same year the expenses are incurred.

 

 REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

 Course fees are recognised over the duration of the programmes.

 Diploma license fees are recognised on an accrual basis in accordance with the agreement.

 Non-endowed donations are recognised in the financial year they are received.

 Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest  
rate applicable.

 RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS – Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 
expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore 
Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where UniSIM’s obligations under 
the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

 EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to 
employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees 
up to the end of the reporting period.

 DONATIONS – Donations given are charged to profit or loss when incurred.

 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSACTIONS - The financial statements of UniSIM are presented in the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency).

 In preparing the financial statements of UniSIM, transactions in currencies other than UniSIM’s functional currency 
are recorded at the rate of exchange prevailing on the date of the transaction. At the end of each reporting period, 
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the end of the reporting 
period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the 
rates prevailing on the date where the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms  
of historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

 Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on retranslation of monetary items are 
included in profit or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items 

carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation 
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses are recognised directly in the other comprehensive 
income. For such non-monetary items, any exchange component of that gain or loss is also recognised directly  
in other comprehensive income.

 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at bank and fixed deposits 
which are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

 

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

 In the application of UniSIM’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, the Trustees are required to  
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and 
other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period  
of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

 (i) Critical judgements in applying UniSIM’s accounting policies
  The management is of the opinion that any instances of application of judgements are not expected to have  

a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements except as follows:

  Classification of held-to-maturity investments
  UniSIM follows the guidance of FRS 39 on classifying non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 

payment and fixed maturity as held-to-maturity. This classification requires significant judgement. In making 
this judgement, UniSIM evaluates its intention and ability to hold such investments to maturity. If UniSIM 
fails to hold these investments to maturity other than for the specific circumstances, for example, selling an 
insignificant amount close to maturity, it will be required to reclassify the entire class as available-for-sale.  
The investment would therefore be measured at fair value and no longer at amortised cost.

 (ii) Key sources of estimation uncertainty
   The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the 

reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are as discussed below:

  Fair value of financial instruments
   The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined using valuation 

techniques. These techniques involve uncertainties and require assumptions and judgements regarding 
prepayments, credit risks and discount rates. Changes in these assumptions will significantly affect the estimated 
value of the financial instruments. UniSIM uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are based 
on market conditions existing on end of the reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar 
instruments are some of the common techniques used to calculate the fair value of these instruments. The 
carrying amount of such financial instruments is $2,028,000 (2009 : $1,992,000).

   Useful lives of plant and equipment
   Management exercises their judgement in estimating the useful lives of plant and equipment and reviews the 

useful lives at the end of each annual reporting period. The total carrying amount of plant and equipment is 
$11,872,000 (2009 : $10,730,000).
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4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

 (a) Categories of financial instruments
   The following table sets out the financial instruments as at the end of the reporting period:

     2010 2009
     $’000 $’000

  Financial Assets
  Cash and cash equivalents  79,963 82,020
  Loans and receivables  5,700 4,512
  Forward foreign exchange contracts  85 2
  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  2,028 1,992
 Held-to-maturity investments  27,805 10,042
 Available-for-sale financial assets  23,898 16,547

  Financial Liabilities
 Other payables  16,514 11,030

 (b) Financial risk management policies and objectives
   Financial risk management policies and objectives are managed at the Singapore Institute of Management 

Group (“SIM Group”) level. The financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effects of the financial performance of the company and its subsidiaries.

  SIM Group has documented financial risk management policies. These policies set out SIM Group’s overall 
business strategies and its risk management philosophy. SIM Group’s overall financial risk management 
programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of financial performance of SIM Group and its 
subsidiaries. The Governing Council of SIM provides written principles for overall financial risk management and 
written policies covering specific areas, such as market risk (included foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, 
and equity price risk), credit risk, liquidity risk, cash flow interest rate risk, use of derivative financial instruments 
and investing excess cash. Such written policies are reviewed annually by the Governing Council and periodic 
reviews are undertaken to ensure that SIM Group’s policy guidelines are complied with. Risk Management is 
carried out by Treasury Department under the policies approved by the Governing Council.

   UniSIM’s overall financial risk management programme seeks to minimise potential adverse effects of  
financial performance of UniSIM.

  There has been no significant change to UniSIM’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it 
manages and measures the risk. Market risk exposures are measured using sensitivity analysis indicated below.

  i) Foreign exchange risk management
    UniSIM’s foreign currency exposures arise mainly from the exchange rate movements of the Sterling pound 

and United States dollar against the Singapore dollar.

   At the reporting date, the carrying amounts of monetary assets and monetary liabilities denominated in 
currencies other than UniSIM’s functional currency are as follows:

   Assets Liabilities
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Sterling pound -   -  154 129
 United States dollar 11,297 8,116  7  10

   Entities in the SIM group use forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign 
currency risk in the local reporting currency. The Treasury Department is responsible for hedging the net 
position in each borrowing currency.

   Foreign currency sensitivity
   The sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk is 10%, which is the change in foreign 

exchange rate that the trustees deem reasonably possible which will affect outstanding foreign currency 
denominated monetary items at period end.

   If the relevant foreign currency weakens by 10% against the functional currency of UniSIM without 
considering the effect of the derivative financial instruments, which is Singapore dollar, profit or loss will 
increase (decrease) by:

   United States Sterling
   dollar impact pound impact
   2010 2009 2010 2009
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Profit or loss (1,130) (811) 15 13

   If the relevant foreign currency strengthens by 10% against the functional currency of UniSIM, there would 
be an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss.
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  ii) Interest rate risk management
   UniSIM is exposed to interest rate risk through the impact of rate changes on interest-bearing assets. UniSIM 

maintains its cash and cash equivalents and held-to-maturity financial assets in fixed rate instruments and 
does not have any significant interest-bearing liabilities.

   All financial assets and liabilities at year end bear no interest rate except for cash, fixed deposits and held-
to-maturity financial assets. The average interest rate on held-to-maturity financial asset is disclosed in 
Note 10.

   Interest rate sensitivity analysis
   The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the exposure to interest rates for cash and cash 

equivalent balances at the end of the reporting period and the stipulated change taking place at the 
beginning of the financial year. A 100 basis point increase or decrease represents the Trustee’s assessment 
of the possible change in interest rate.

   If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, UniSIM’s net 
surplus would increase/decrease by approximately $0.8 million (2009 : $0.8 million).

  iii) Credit risk management
   UniSIM is not exposed to significant credit risk as most of its fees are received in advance. As at December 

31, 2010 and 2009, UniSIM’s sundry debtors comprise mainly grant receivable from the Ministry of 
Education.

   Cash and fixed deposits are held with reputable financial institutions.

  iv) Liquidity risk management
   UniSIM maintains sufficient cash and cash equivalents, and internally generated cash flows to finance  

its activities.

   Non-derivative financial assets
   The following table details the expected maturity for non-derivative financial assets. The tables below have 

been drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest 
that will be earned on those assets except where UniSIM anticipate that the cash flow will occur in a 
different period.

   Fixed rate

    6 months More Non- 
   Less than to than interest 
   6 months 12 months 12 months bearing Total
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 2010
 Cash and cash equivalents 79,961 -  -  2 79,963
 Loans and receivables 215 -  -  5,485 5,700
 Financial assets at fair value  
  through profit or loss -  2,028 -  -  2,028
 Available-for-sale investments -  -  23,898 -  23,898
 Held-to-maturity financial assets 19,077  -   8,728  -   27,805
 Total 99,253  2,028 32,626 5,275 139,394
 
 2009
 Cash and cash equivalents 70,709 11,308 -  3 82,020
 Loans and receivables 287 82 -  4,143 4,512
 Financial assets at fair value  
  through profit or loss -  1,992  -   -  1,992
 Available-for-sale investments -   -  16,547  -  16,547
 Held-to-maturity financial assets  3,000  7,042  -   -   10,042
 Total 73,996 20,424 16,547 4,146 115,113

   Non-derivative financial liabilities
   UniSIM’s financial liabilities are substantially payable in less than 6 months and interest-free.

  v) Price risk management
   UniSIM is exposed to price risks arising from financial assets at fair value through profit and loss and 

available-for-sale investments. Available-for-sale equity investments are held for strategic rather than 
trading purposes. UniSIM does not trade in available-for-sale investments.

   Further details of these investments can be found in Notes 9 and 12 to the financial statements.

   Price sensitivity analysis
   The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on the exposure to equity price risks at the 

reporting date. In respect of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, if prices had been 10% 
higher/lower, UniSIM’s net surplus for the year ended December 31, 2010 would increase/decrease by 
$203,000 (2009 : $199,000).

   In respect of available-for-sale equity investments, if the prices had been 10% higher/lower, UniSIM’s fair 
value reserves would increase/decrease by $2,363,000 (2009 : $1,654,000).
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  vi) Fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
   Other than the financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, held-to-maturity financial assets and 

available-for-sale investments, the carrying amounts of financial assets and liabilities reported in the 
statement of assets, liabilities, reserves and fund balances approximate their respective fair values due to 
the relatively short-term maturity of these financial instruments. The fair value of financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale investments financial assets are disclosed in 
Notes 9, 10 and 12 respectively.

   The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are determined as follows:

   i) the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with standard terms and conditions and 
traded on active liquid markets are determined with reference to quoted market prices;

   ii) the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments) 
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models based on discounted cash 
flow analysis; and

   iii) the fair value of derivative financial instruments are calculated using quoted prices. Where such 
prices are not available, discounted cash flow analysis is used, based on the applicable yield curve 
of the duration of the instruments for non-optional derivatives, and option pricing models for optional 
derivatives, where applicable.

   UniSIM classifies fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the significance of the 
inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the following levels:

   (a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

   (b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

   (c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).

    Financial instruments measured at fair value 

   Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Financial Assets
 
 2010
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 - Other financial assets at fair 
   value through profit or loss 2,028 -  2,028 - 
 
 Available-for-sale investments:
 - Quoted funds managed by 
   external fund managers  12,626 -  12,626 - 
 - Quoted preference shares 11,272 11,272  -   - 
    23,898 11,272 12,626  - 

 Total  25,926 11,272 14,654  - 
 
 

   Financial Liabilities
 

   2010
   UniSIM had no financial liabilities carried at fair value in 2010.

   There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the financial year.

   Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
   $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Financial Assets
 
 2009
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
 - Other financial assets at fair
   value through profit or loss  1,992  -   1,992  - 
 
 Available-for-sale investments:
 - Quoted funds managed by
   external fund managers  14,495  -  14,495  - 
 - Quoted preference shares  2,052  2,052  -   - 
    16,547  2,052 14,495  - 
 
 Total  18,539  2,052 16,487  - 
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 Financial Liabilities
 

   2009
   UniSIM had no financial liabilities carried at fair value in 2009.

   There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy during the financial year. 

 (c) Capital risk management policies and objectives
  UniSIM reviews the capital structure at least annually to ensure that it will be able to continue as a going concern. 

The capital structure of UniSIM comprises of funds and reserves. UniSIM’s overall strategy remains unchanged 
from 2009.

5 HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED COMPANY TRANSACTIONS

 The ultimate controlling party of UniSIM is the Singapore Institute of Management, a charity registered in Singapore. 
Singapore Institute of Management (“SIM”) and UniSIM have common trustees. The Governing Council of Singapore 
Institute of Management may appoint, remove or replace a Trustee of UniSIM. Accordingly, the Board of Trustees 
deemed UniSIM to be a subsidiary of Singapore Institute of Management.

 Related companies in these financial statements refer to members of the parent entity’s group of companies.

 Some of UniSIM’s transactions and arrangements are between members of the group and the effect of these on 
the basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The inter-company balances are 
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

 Significant intercompany transactions are as follows:
 
   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Group Corporate Service charges paid/payable to parent entity  (7,684) (7,119)
 Donations received from a related company  16,120 18,020
 Diploma license fee received from a related company   1,464  1,676

6 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

 Related parties are entities with common direct or indirect shareholders and/or trustees. Parties are considered to 
be related if one party has the ability to control the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in 
making financial and operating decisions.

 Some of the UniSIM’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the basis 
determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements.

  Compensation of trustees and key management personnel
 The remuneration of the trustees and other members of key management during the year was as follows:

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Short-term benefits  3,539 3,460
 Post-employment benefits   117  112
   3,656 3,572

 The remuneration of trustees and key management is determined by the Compensation and Establishment Committee 
of UniSIM having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

 Related party transaction with trustees for advisory services during the year was $103,500 (2009 : $90,000).

 Key management personnel comprises senior executives in the President’s Office, Deans, Directors and Trustees.

 Number of key management in remuneration bands for UniSIM is shown below:

   2010 2009

 $550,001 to $600,000  1 0
 $500,001 to $550,000  0 1
 $450,001 to $500,000  1 1
 $300,001 to $350,000  1 2
 $250,001 to $300,000  1 1
 $200,001 to $250,000  3 4
 $150,001 to $200,000  4 1
 $100,001 to $150,000  2 3
 $100,000 and below   6  3
   19 16

7 CASH AND BANK BALANCES

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Cash at bank  4,853 6,370
 Fixed deposits  75,108 75,647
 Cash on hand   2  3
 Total  79,963 82,020

  Cash and bank balances comprise cash held by UniSIM and short-term fixed deposits with an original maturity 
ranging from 7 days to 369 days (2009 : 6 days to 203 days). The carrying amounts of these assets approximate their 
fair values.

 Short-term fixed deposits bear interest at average rates ranging from 0.06% to 1.97% (2009 : 0.06% to 2.00%) per 
annum and are for a tenure of approximately 7 days to 369 days (2009 : 6 days to 203 days).
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8 SUNDRY DEBTORS, DEPOSITS AND PREPAYMENTS

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Diploma license fee from a related company (Note 5)  739 897
 Course fee receivable  73 121
 Interest receivable  215 246
 Staff loans  2 3
 Ministry of Education  4,009 3,213
 Grant receivable from Spring Singapore (Note 17)  212 - 
 Others   447  29
   5,697 4,509
 Prepayments  2,221 1,801
 Deposits  3 3
 Forward foreign exchange contracts   85  2
 Total  8,006 6,315

 In 2010, the amount relating to forward foreign exchange contracts of approximately $85,000 (2009 : $2,000) represents 
the mark-to-market gain on derivative financial instruments entered into by Singapore Institute of Management (“SIM”) 
on behalf of UniSIM.

 At the end of the reporting period, the total notional amount of outstanding foreign exchange contracts which SIM has 
committed for the purpose of hedging foreign currency risk arising from the investments in SIM and UniSIM are as 
follows:

 
   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Buy SGD  31,128 19,925
 
 Sell USD  24,000 14,200

 UniSIM’s sundry debtors, deposits and prepayments that are not denominated in its functional currency are  
as follows:

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 United States dollar   -   5

 Sundry debtors that are neither past due nor impaired relate to customers that the company has assessed to be 
creditworthy. Accordingly, the management believes that there is no credit provision required.

 

 The table below is an analysis of UniSIM’s sundry debtors as at December 31:

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Not past due and not impaired  5,485 4,505
 Past due but not impaired (i) and (ii)   -   4
 Total sundry debtors, net   5,485  4,509

 (i) Aging of UniSIM’s sundry debtors which are past due but not impaired
  < 90 days  -   - 
  > 90 days   -   4
  Total   -   4

 (ii) These receivables are not secured by any collateral or credit enhancements.

9 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

    Issue date Maturity date 2010 2009
      $’000 $’000

 Credit linked note July 31, 2010 July 31, 2011 2,028 1,992

 The credit linked note has nominal value amounting to $2,000,000 with a coupon rate of 5.1% per annum. The average 
effective interest rate of the credit linked note is 5.1% per annum.

 The fair value of the credit linked note is determined based on estimated valuations derived from market quotations or 
from proprietary models that take into consideration estimates about relevant present and future market conditions.

 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are denominated in Singapore dollar, the functional currency  
of UniSIM.

 Changes in the fair value of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, amounting to a gain of $36,000  
(2009 : $287,000) have been included in profit or loss for the year as part of “Non-Operating Income”.

10 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Unquoted debt securities, at amortised cost:
  Current  19,077 10,042
  Non-current   8,728  - 
     27,805 10,042

 
 



26

notes to the financial statements
December 31, 2010

sim university 27Financial Report 2010

 The unquoted debt securities comprise bonds issued by financial institutions and public listed companies. As at 
December 31, 2010, the unquoted debt securities have nominal values amounting to $27.5 million (2009 : $10.09 
million) with coupon rates ranging from 1.24% to 4.75% (2009 : 3.00% to 3.41%) per annum and maturity dates 
ranging from March 2011 to February 2013 (2009 : February 2010 to November 2010). The average effective  
interest rate of the debt securities ranges from 1.9% to 2.7% (2009 : 2.38% to 3.272%) per annum.

 All the bonds carry a fixed coupon rate. The fair values of the securities are provided by banks employing generally 
market accepted valuation parameters and techniques.

 The unquoted debt securities have fair values amounting to $27,805,000 (2009 : $10,042,000).

 The held-to-maturity financial assets are denominated in the functional currency of UniSIM.

11 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

     Office 
     equipment, 
     furniture  Motor 
    Renovations and fittings Computers vehicles Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

 Cost:
  At January 1, 2009 7,403 1,784 13,996 175 23,358
  Additions 119 1,038 5,238  -  6,395
  Disposal  -   -  (66)  -  (66)
  Written off  (30)  (17)  (3)  -   (50)
  At December 31, 2009 7,492 2,805 19,165 175 29,637
  Additions 86 854 5,012 187 6,139
  Disposal  -   -  (59)  -  (59)
  Written off  -   -   (3)  -   (3)
  At December 31, 2010 7,578 3,659 24,115 362 35,714

 Accumulated depreciation:
  At January 1, 2009 3,719 873 9,312 111 14,015
  Depreciation for the year 1,853 554 2,559 35 5,001
  Disposal  -   -  (66)  -  (66)
  Written off  (30)  (10)  (3)  -   (43)
  At December 31, 2009 5,542 1,417 11,802 146 18,907
  Depreciation for the year 1,807 838 2,285 67 4,997
  Disposal  -   -  (59)  -  (59)
  Written off  -   -   (3)  -   (3)
  At December 31, 2010 7,349 2,255 14,025 213 23,842

 Carrying amount:
  At December 31, 2009 1,950 1,388  7,363  29 10,730

  At December 31, 2010  229 1,404 10,090 149 11,872
 

12 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Quoted funds managed by external fund managers, at fair value  12,626 14,495
 Quoted preference shares, at fair value  11,272  2,052
     23,898 16,547

 The investments above offer UniSIM the opportunity for return through dividend income, interest income and fair value 
gains. They have no fixed maturity or coupon rate. The fair values of these quoted funds are determined as the quoted 
fund net asset values provided by the fund managers and banks at the last market day of the financial year. The net 
asset values approximate the fair values as the funds comprise mainly financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and monetary assets.

 The fair values of the quoted preference shares are determined based on the last traded price on the Singapore Stock 
Exchange at the end of the reporting period. 

 UniSIM’s available-for-sale investments that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:
 
   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 United States dollar  11,297  8,116

13 GOVERNMENT GRANTS RECEIVED IN ADVANCE

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 At beginning of financial year  294 313
 Funds received  130 120
 Funds refunded  (13) - 
 Utilised during the year (Note 21)  (104) (139)
 At end of financial year  307 294
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14 OTHER PAYABLES

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Parent entity (Note 5)  2,625 1,940
 Accruals  8,702 6,084
 Others    5,187  3,006
     16,514 11,030

 UniSIM’s other payables that are not denominated in its functional currency are as follows:

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 United States dollar  7 10
 Sterling pound   154  129

15 EDUCATION FUND

 The SIM University Education Fund is set up to establish, operate, maintain and promote SIM University as a private 
university. The SIM University Education Fund has been conferred the Institution of a Public Character status.

 The following represents the SIM University Education Fund:
   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Balance at January 1  79,187 66,114
 Total comprehensive income for the year   9,432 13,073
 Balance at December 31  88,619 79,187

 Represented by:
  
 Current assets
 Fixed deposits  27,624 41,610
 Other receivables  247 160
 Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  2,028 1,992
 Held-to-maturity financial assets  19,077 10,042
     48,976 53,804

 Non-current assets
 Available-for-sale investments  23,898 16,547
 Held-to-maturity financial assets  8,728  - 
 Property, plant and equipment  10,117  9,234
     42,743 25,781

 Less: Current liability
 Other payables   3,100  398

 Total net assets  88,619 79,187

 

16 FAIR VALUE RESERVE

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 At beginning of financial year  1,940 (777)
 Arising during the year  327 2,717
 Reclassification to profit or loss from equity on  
  disposal of available-for-sale investments   (402)  - 
 At end of financial year  1,865 1,940

 The fair value reserve relates to revaluation of the available-for-sale investments. As these investments are funded by 
the SIM University Education Fund, the fair value reserve forms part of the Education Fund.

17 OTHER RESTRICTED FUNDS

 Other restricted funds comprise the following funds:

 Name of fund Purpose

 Sponsorship awards fund Donations and sponsorships received for the purpose of awarding of 
scholarships, medals, prizes to deserving students.

 Other funds – Spring Singapore and Funds received for the purpose of course development for Biomedical
   Economic Development Board Sciences Proof of Concept Scheme and Executive Master in Technology 

Entrepreneurship and Rotman Design Work.

    Sponsorship Other
    awards fund funds Total
    $’000 $’000 $’000

 Balance at January 1, 2009 97 263 360
 Received during the year  1  -  1
 Utilised during the year  (2) (226) (228)
 Balance at December 31, 2009 96  37 133
 Received/receivable during the year  50 356 406
 Utilised during the year (Note A)  (2) (364) (366)
 Balance at December 31, 2010 144  29 173

 Represented by:
 Cash and bank balances 144  29 173

 Note A
 In 2010, included in the amount utilised during the year is a grant receivable from Spring Singapore of $212,000  

(Note 8).
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18 OPERATING INCOME

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Course fees  64,166 53,472
 Application fees  214 243
 Diploma license fees (Note 5)  1,464 1,676
 Graduation function  78 78
 Executive seminars  307 3
 Other operating income   481  - 
     66,710 55,472

19 STAFF AND MANPOWER COSTS

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Wages and salaries  19,508 18,061
 Employer’s contribution to Central Provident Fund  1,867 1,730
 Other staff benefits   977  824
     22,352 20,615

20 OTHER OPERATING EXPENDITURE

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Administrative expenses  3,580 2,398
 Group Corporate Services charges paid/payable to parent entity   7,684 7,119
     11,264 9,517

21 NON-OPERATING INCOME

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Donations received from:
  Related company (Note 5)  16,120 18,020
  Outside parties  51 64
 Interest income from fixed deposits, current accounts and
  held-to-maturity financial assets  1,102 907
 Change in fair value of forward foreign exchange contract  84 (152)
 Realised exchange gain on forward foreign exchange contracts  574 235
 Change in fair value of fair value through profit or loss investments  36 287
 Government grant income (Note 13)  104 139
 Income from other restricted funds (Note 17)  366 228
 Gain on disposal of available-for-sale investments  972 - 
 Other income   887  1,433
     20,296 21,161

 22 TAXATION
 With effect from Year of Assessment 2009, the requirement for charities to spend at least 80% of their annual 

receipts on charitable objects in Singapore within 2 years in order to enjoy income tax exemption has been removed. 
Consequently, Section 13M has been repealed by Section 13(1)(zm) and UniSIM’s receipts for the financial years 
ended December 31, 2009 and 2010 are exempt from income tax.

23 COMMITMENTS

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Commitments for the acquisition of plant and equipment  554 4,429

24 OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Minimum lease payments under operating leases
  recognised as an expense during the year  131 113

 At the end of the reporting period, UniSIM has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable operating leases 
which fall due as follows:

   2010 2009
   $’000 $’000

 Future minimum lease payments payable:

 Within one year  100 90
 In the second to fifth years inclusive  201 249

 Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by UniSIM for certain of its office equipment. Leases are negotiated 
for the range from 2 to 5 years and rentals are fixed for an average of 2 to 5 years.
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